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FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON 

This submission is done in accordance with the provisions 
of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 1 of 
1999). It is our pleasure to present the Annual Report of 
the McGregor Museum to the Provincial Legislature for the 
:financial year that ended on 31 March 2018. 

Museum activities in South Africa are aligned to the 
National Development Plan (NDP), as prescribed, within the 
fourteen outcomes. We are expected specifically to help fulfil 
Government Outcome 14 - ''transforming society and uniting 
the country" by the achievement of equal opportunities, of 
inclusion and redress; and the promotion of social cohesion. 
We want to "honom and celebrate our collective heritage by 
promoting our diverse cultural identities" but also ''promot.e 
our new museums and monuments and preserve existing 
ones to depict and preserve the heritage of our people." 

The McGregor Museum logo, depicting a rubbing of a 
rock engraving from the Northern Cape, is interpieted 
as representing a bag, with tassels, such as were used by 
San women for gathering - for collecting, for example, 
medicinal herbs or plant foods. What more appropriate 
image might there be for a museum, which collects, protects 
and conserves our heritage? 

A leather bag in itself is expressive of both om natural 
and cultural heritage. It is an animal product - crafted into 
a cultural item. It represents values as well as skills of 
interaction at many levels, including hunting. knowledge of 
the environment, craftsmanship. Skills and values, that is, 
relating to its production - and its use. 

What the bag contains - like a museum - can be a mystery 
for those who are inquisitive. It is our inquisitiveness about 
the world around us which spurs on research. What the 
bag protects for future generations is natural and cultural 
treasures. And what the bag can cany is knowledge and 
illustrative materials, to be taken on museum outreach 
programmes, to be shared. 

The McGregor Museum is a schedule 3C public entity, 
accountable to the Northern Cape Department of Sport, 
Arts and Culture (DSAC). The Board has a fiduciary 
responsibility towards the museum and is accountable for 
strategy development. It is further responsible for ensuring 
that management implements the approved Strategic Plan as 
well as the Annual Performance Plan. 
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The McGregor Museum serves the whole of the greater 
Kimberley and Frances Baard communities as well as the 
rest of the Northern Cape. It caters for all segments oflocal 
society, across difl"erent ages, int.erests and linguistic groups. 
It manages and administers large and very significant 
collections that constitute part of South Africa's national 
heritage. It is the intention of the museum to ensure that these 
collections are properly conserved so that future generations 
can access them for research as well as aesthetic reasons. 

A specific focus has always been to make the McGregor 
Museum and its satellites accessible to communities, 
especially learners. 

Although the museum was already listed as a Provincial 
Public Entity in May 2014, no additional funding was 
received to implement the legislative requirements of a 
listed entity meaning that the McGregor Museum has not yet 
become a fully operational entity and still receives support 
from its parent department in all Human Resource related 
functions. 

The Board continues to be concerned about the loss of 
skilled and specialist staff that has reached high levels at 
the Museum. This hampers the work of the Board as the 
Museum cannot operate according to its mandate if it lacks 
both financial and human capital. The McGregor Museum 
needs serious financial support to not only comply with the 
legislative requirements bestowed on a public entity but 
also to acquire staff with the skills and expertise needed to 
drive its strategic plan namely to conserve and promote our 
country's heritage. 

I would like to acknowledge the support given to this 
institution by the MEC of Sport, Arts and Culture and its 
parent department, the Department of Sport, Arts and 
Culture. The support of the Board members and museum staff 
is greatly appreciated. A word of thanks must also go to our 
external audit committee as well as numerous institutions, 
sponsors and donors who supported us over the past year. 

Mr K. Mathews 
Chairperson McGregor Museum Board 
Date: 31 May 2018 



CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S OVERVIEW 

It is an honour to present the 2017/18 annual report of the 
McGregor Museum. Our achievements during this financial year 
are indicative of the transfOllD8tion that has taken place over the 
past number of years. 

Despite financial challenges the museum managed to undertake 
many significant projects, including: 

A very successful exhibition opening was held on 3 August 
commemorating the 120th Anniversacy of the Langeberg War of 
1897. The current Kgosi of the Batlharo (Kgosi Pelonomi Toto) 
was in attendance and the exhibition was officially opened by 
Mr B. Jacobs, Chief Director at the DSAC. Another highlight 
was the Oliver Tambo exhibition commemorating the Centenary 
year of Oliver Reginald Tambo. The exhtoition was opened by 
Ms B. Mbinqo-Gigaba, MEC for Sport. Arts and Culture on 30 
November with the keynote address being presented by Ms L. 
Vllakazi., CEO of the Tambo Foundation. 

A number of very successful outreach programmes were 
implemented by the museum, including: A Women's month 
lecture titled One hundred years of women's stroggle for equality 
presented by Prof Gertrude Fester (SPU) held on 30 August 
2017. The museum held two Mandela day outreach actions 
on 18 and 21 July respectively. The Mary Moffat Museum in 
Griekwastad prepared soup for the homeless and the McGregor 
Museum History department donated food to the Galeshewe 
Association for the Care of the Ag-ed and Disabled (GAASCA). 

Heritage month was celebrated with a special event held on 21 
September 2017. This coincided with the 110th anniversary of 
the McGregor Museum's existence. 106 people attended our 
"Night at the Museum" Based on the concept of the movie with 
the same title the museum invited the public to a tongue-in-the
cheek sneak glimpse at what happens in the museum after hours. 
Museum display scenes were brought to life by museum staff 
and local actors. The event was a huge success and featured on 
SABCnews. 

In partnership with Historical Homes South Africa and Prof M. 
Burden (Cultural Historian at the University of Stellenbosch) 
the museum hosted two museum accredited training courses 
in :furniture and architecture respectively. The museum also 
partnered with the Namakwa District Municipality to provide 
musemn basic training to 7 offi.cials from the Namakwa District. 
A self-defence workshop for women was held on 27 November 
2017 as part of the 16 Days of Activism campaign. 

The museum produced two important brochures: one to 
commemorate the 65th anniversary of the Mayibuye uprising of 
1952 and the other in commemoration of the 120th anniversary 
of the 1897 Langeberg War. 

A total of 17 062 people visited the museum and its satellites 
during the year. This number exceeded our expectations and 
again proved the relevance and importance of museums. 
In October 2017 the new walkway at Wonderwerk Cave, funded 
by SAHRA, received the SA Institute of Architects Northern 
Cape's Award for Architecture and in May 2018 an "Award 

of Merit'' was conferred on the walkway at the National SA 
Institute of Architects Awards. 

As a museum we ace tasked to conserve and preserve the 
national estate for posterity and to share the knowledge gleaned 
from our various collections with those we serve. Our numerous 
collections ace not only valuable to the Northern Cape but also 
to the rest of the country and the world. This can be attested to 
by the many national and international researchers that came to 
the museum in this fiscal year. 

Through partnerships with various national and international 
institutions the museum continued with a number of important 
research projects. Our archaeology and zoology departments 
have some longstanding collaborative research agreements 
with overseas par1ners including work revolving around the 
archaeological sites of Kathu and Wonderwerk Cave, co
ordinated by Michael Chu.an from Toronto University in 
Canada and rese11TCh into the Black-footed Cat, in collaboration 
with Wuppertal Zoo and Cologne Zoo in Germany. The 
continuation of the Black-footed Cat project have been 
made possible through the generous grants received from the 
International Society for Endangered Cats (ISEC), Canada and 
San Diego Zoo, USA. Our history department has consistently 
been involved with community outreach progwnmes, including 
a collaborative project with the North.em Cape Department 
of Economic Development and Tourism that will result in the 
development and publishing of three walking trails for towns in 
the K.aroo Hoogland region. The history department researched 
important historical events which resulted in four excellent 
temporary exlnoitions opened this year. In all our exlnoitions 
and publications, we have been well-supported by a willing and 
highly skilled art department. 

The museum presently has 50 permanent staff members (of 
which four posts are currently vacant) as opposed to the 63 
approved posts in 2008. The current budget and the numerous 
vacant defimded posts make it difficult for the museum to 
comply with various Public Finance Management and TreasUI)' 
Regulation prescripts and hamper the institution in fully 
achieving its strategic goals. The lack. of staff, especially front 
desk and cleaning staff, has forced museum management to close 
certain museums, opening only upon request This situation 
leads to much frustration from tourists and tour guides. A further 
problem faced by 1he entity is the defunding of critical posts 
resulting in research and service delivery being compromised. 

The Museum's main source of income is the subsidy received 
from the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 
The museum's budget, strategic orientated goals and objectives 
are directly dependent on this subsidy and its functions are 
informed and regulated by this. 

The entity incurred no unauthorised - or irregulm- expenditme 
during the 2017 /18 financial year but :fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure to the value ofR20.7S was incurred. This was as a 
result of a penalty for a late SARS payment. The entity's growing 
procurement needs and the strict legislative requirements with 
regard to supply chain management (SCM) has placed a heavy 
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burden on our SCM unit that currently consists of a Senior State displays and educational and outreach programmes. 
Accountant and one SCM clerk. 

Despite the museum's success in generating income and securing 
donor funding to date, the entity struggles to sustain the funding 
of key programmes. As a result, the McGregor Museum has seen 
a significant and progressive drop in spending on core function 
activities such as conservation, exhibitions, and education and 
public programmes. Increasingly, delivery of our key mandate is 
not possible without donor support or partnerships. 

Budget pressures from 2017/18 onwards arise as the museum 
cannot sustain its deficits by continuous use of reserves. The 
reason that it is not sustainable to do so, is that the greater part 
of the reserves arose from the capitalisation of all fixed assets in 
2013 and will be written down by annual depreciation charges in 
years to come i.e. they are non-cash reserves, as is depreciation 
expense, which is not included in the operating budget. 

The McGregor Museum will continue to strive to deliver 
services in its specialist disciplines which promote a greater 
awareness and appreciation of South Africa's diverse cultural 
and natural heritage. Although challenging due to inappropriate 
and inadequate storage facilities for the Museum's heritage 
collections, efforts will be ongoing to maintain collections 
at the highest possible standards, for the current and future 
benefit of all South Africans. Ongoing research on these diverse 
collections will continue to position the Museum both locally 
and internationally as a recognised institution of research 
excellence. Research also acts as a vehicle by which heritage 
collections and the treasures contained therein are unlocked 
and made accessible t.o all people, through topical exhibitions, 

One of the museum's groundsman, Mr Jurie Blom sadly passed 
away in March 2018. He will be sorely missed by museum 
colleagues. 

Museum management would like to congratulate Mrs Tracy 
Maannan for successfully completing the academic and 
practical training requirements of the South African Institute of 
Professional Accountants. She has been admitted to the Institute 
as full member on 12 Februacy 2018. 

In conclusion, I would like to thank the MEC for Sport, Arts and 
Culture, the Department of Sport.Arts and Culture, the McGregor 
Museum Board of Trustees, the external audit committee as well 
as Internal Audit. my colleagues and all stakeholders for their 
continued commitment and support. 

Ms S. Swanepoel 
Acting Chief Executive Officer 
McGregor Museum Provincial Public Entity 
Date: 31 May 2018 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND 
CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY FOR THE 
ANNUAL REPORT 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the To the 
best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following: 

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report are 
consistent with the annual financial statements audited by the 
Auditor General. 

The annual report is complete, accurate and is free from any 
omissions. 

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the 
guidelines on the annual report as issued by National Treasury. 

The .Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared 
in accordance with the GRAP standards applicable to the public 
entity. 

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of 
the annual :financial statements and for the judgements made in 
this information. 

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing 
and implementing a system of internal control that has been 
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of the performance information, the human resources 
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information and the annual :financial statements. 
The external auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the annual :financial statements. 

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, 
the performance information, the human resources information 
and the financial affairs of the public entity for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2018. 

Yours faithfully 

Chief Executive Officer 
Name: S. Swanepoel 
Date: 31 May 2018 

Chairperson of the Board 
Name: K Matthews 
Date: 31 May 2018 



STRATEGIC OVERVIEW 

VISION 

To know and conserve our past and present for the future. 

MISSION 

The mission of the McGregor Museum is to research and conserve the natural and cultural history and diversity 
of the Northern Cape, and promote an awareness thereof through service excellence. 

VALUES 

• The values of the South African Constitution 

• The Batho Pele principles 

• Transformation by ensuring access, redress and objectivity 

• Accountability and transparency 

• Service excellence 

LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES 

The legislative framework that guides the McGregor Museum is the Museum Ordinance No. 8 of 1975 and the 
Public Finance ManagementAct (PFMA), 1999 (ActNo.1 of 1999) and regulations issued in terms of the Act. 

Every attempt is made to comply with legislation, regulations and prescripts. It should however be understood 
that a small entity such as this has to comply with the same legislative requirements as those receiving generous 
allocations from government The human resources and financial cons1raints the entity experience make it very 
difficult to comply. 
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 
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AUDITOR'S REPORT: 
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES 

The AGSA/auditor currently performs the necessary audit 
procedures on the performance information to provide 
reasonable assmance in the form of an audit conclusion. The 
audit conclusion on the performance against predetermined 
objectives is included in the report to management, with material 
findings being reported under the Predetermined Objectives 
heading in the Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
section of the auditor's report. 

Refer to page 31 of the Report of the Auditors Report, published 
as Part E: Financial Information. 

2. SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS 
2.1 Service Delivery Environment 
Museum activity in South Africa is aligned with the National 
Development Plan (NOP), as prescn"bed, with its fourteen 
outcomes. We are expected specifically to help fulfil Government 
Outcome 14 - "transforming society and uniting the country" by 
the achievement of equal opportunities, of inclusion and redress; 
and the promotion of social cohesion. We are to ''honour and 
celebrate om collective heritage by promoting our diverse 
cultural identities" and to ''promote our new museums and 
monuments and preserve existing ones to depict and preserve the 
heritage of our people." We therefore seek, in all our activities, 
to ensure museums are accessible, and to connect with as many 
people as possible in the Northern Cape and South Africa so that 
their lives can be enriched and they can benefit from our rich 
heritage. 

The McGregor Museum is one of only two multi-disciplinary 

2.2 Organisational environment 
The McGregor Museum is a Natural and Cultural History 
Museum that performs its conservation, research and educational 
:functions against the background of the international definition 
of a museum as 

a non-pro.fit maldng, permanent institution in the service of 
society and of its development, and open to the public, which 
acquires, consenes, researches, communicates and exhibits, 
for purposes of study, education and enjoyment, material 
evidence of people and their environment, 

The McGregor Museum performs its conservation, researeh and 
educational :functions in a broad spec1nnn of disciplines in the 
Natmal and Human Sciences. 

The museum currently has 50 permanent staff memben as 
opposed to the 63 approved posts in 2008. It is currently staffed 
by employees seconded from the Northern Cape Department 
of Sport Arts and Culture as well as by employees appointed 
by the Board of Trustees on a contract or casual worker basis. 
The current budget and the numerous var;:ant de:funded posts 
makes it difficult for the museum to comply with various Public 
Finance Management and Treasury Regulation prescripts and 
hamper the institution in fully achieving its strategic goals. The 
lack of staff, especially front desk and cleaning staff, has forced 
museum management to close certain museums and open only 
upon request. This situation leads to much frustration from 
tourists and tour guides. 

research institutions in the Northern Cape. Its core functions, The following capacity and other constraints informed the 
research, conservation and outreach are hampered as a result of development of the Annual Performance Plan: 
human and :financial constraints. Even with these constraints the • Current critical shortage of specialist staff as a result of the 
museum has had some major successes such as the development systematic de:funding of posts by the Department Sport, 
of new displays and being able to bring to the province major Arts and Culture. Low salaries (when compared to the 
national travelling exhibitions. The maintenance of museum market place} and scarcity of qualified specialists makes it 
inftastructure is a serious challenge as a number of museum difficult to retain and attract specialist staff with appropriate 
buildings date to the Victorian period and are expensive to experience. 
maintain. All these buildings form part of the tourism fabric • Lack of exhibition and appropriate collections storage 
of Kimberley and the Northern Cape and therefore cannot be space. 
allowed to deteriorate. • When considering the targets for each of the strategic 

The McGregor Museum delivers services in its specialist 
disciplines which promote a greater awareness and appreciation 
of South Africa's diverse cultural and natmal heritage. Efforts 
to maintain collections at the highest pOSS1ole standards, despite 
challenges due to inappropriate and inadequate storage facilities, 
will continue. Ongoing research as well as new research, 
particularly that involving oral history, will enable the museum 

objectives listed in Section 2.4 and 3 below, it should be 
noted that, due to limited financial resomces and human 
capacity available to the McGregor Museum, these will not 
necessarily increase over time. For many of the projected 
targets set, it is believed that Museum personnel and other 
resources are being used to full capacity. Notwithstanding 
the Museum will strive to maintain or improve upon this 
standard of performance but in order to improve significantly, 
additional resources, both human and financial, are essential. 

Key pollcy developments and legislative 
changes 

to contribute to the promotion of heritage and to address the 
challenges facing biodiversity. Research further serves as a 
vehicle by which heritage collections and the treasures contained 2.3 
therein are mtlocked and made accessible and relevant to all 
people, through topical exhl.'bitions, displays and educational The entity is in the process of developing its own policies. To 

this end the Museum Board approved six new policies in this 
financial year: Asset Management policy; Gifts, donations and 
sponsorships; Subsistence and Travel policy; Social Media 
policy; Information Technology policy and a Performance 
Information policy. 

and outreach programmes. 

With nine sites under its management, the McGregor Museum 
further plays a key role as a major regional tourism resource. 
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4.1 Capital Investment 

The staff cottages at Magersfontein Battlefield Museum, which are one of our main tourist sites, were in desperate need of repairs. 
The entity spent R135 000 repairing major structural damage to one of the houses in the previous :financial year. Repairs to the 
second house to the value of Rl 35 000 was completed in the 2017 /l 8 financial year. Roof repairs totalling RI 63 117 were committed 
for urgent repairs required to Dunluce House and the Alexander McGregor Memorial Museum in Chapel Street as a result of heavy 
storms during March 2018. 

The entity procured 53 new tangible movable assets during the year. A number of assets were identified as lost during 2016/17 and 
were written off in 2017118 after an investigation was completed. Assets that were found to be unserviceable and obsolete were also 
disposed of. 

To ensure that the entity's asset register remains accurate our supply chain management unit informs the asset management unit 
of any asset purchases on a monthly basis. Assets are then tagged and reconciled. Furthermore, a full asset verification exercise is 
conducted annually. 

Most of the museum buildings are over 100 years old and as such require extensive infrastructure maintenance estimated in excess 
of RIO million. Due to cmrent limited resources, only rniuirnal infrastructure maintenance can be done resulting in the systematic 
deterioration of historic museum buildings. 
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The following internal audit work was completed daring the year under reviewt based on the internal audit plan 
2017/2018: 

Overall analysis 
3 

2 

1 

0 1 IHHI 11 IHHI--

■ Critical ■Significant ■ Housekeeping 

15.2.2 THE FOLLOWING WERE AREAS OF 
CONCERN: 

Governance - Board not properly constituted 
Heritage assets. 

Management has however developed a pragmatic action plan to 
address the above issues within a reasonable time period. The 
Audit Committee monitored the implementation of the plan 
during the quarterly audit committee meetings and is partially 
satisfied with the implementation of its recmnroendations. 

The Internal Audit activity also mamtains combined assurance 
framework and plan which were developed in collaboration with 
the entity risk management and Auditor General. The plan has 
been useful in ensuring that assurance is placed at all high risks 
by various assurance providers. 

15.3 IN-YEAR MANAGEMENT AND MONTHLY 
QUARTERLY REPORT 

The Audit Committee satisfied itself of the expertise, resources 
and experience of the entity's :finance function. 

The entity has been reporting quarterly to Provincial Treasury 
and to the department of Sport arts and culture, as is required by 
the PFMA. We had engagements with the Entity's management 
to provide clarity on completeness and quality of the quarterly 
reports during our quarterly meetings and officials of the 
Entity were able to clarify areas of concern raised by the Audit 
Committee. 

15.4 EVALUATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
1. The Audit Committee reviewed the financial statements for 

the year ended 31 March 2018 at a meeting which took place 
31 May 2018. In addition the Audit Committee reviewed 
the draft Annual Report of the Entity. 

audit committee meetings and management was directed 
to implement remedial measures where instances of non
compliance are noted. 

15,5 MEETING WITH MEMBER OF THE 
EXECUTIVE COUNCIL 

The Audit Committee is scheduled met with the Chairperson 
for the Board on 13 March 2018 to discuss matters of outmost 
importance to the committee and entity. The Committee 
appreciate commitment and support from the Chairperson to 
ensure that the Committee as well the entity fulfil its obligations. 

15.6 AUDITOR-GENERAL SOUTH AFRICA 
We have reviewed the Entity's implementation plan for audit 
issues raised in the prior year and we are satisfied that the matters 
have been adequately resolved, except for the issues relating to 
heritage assets. 

The audit committee met with representatives from the Office of 
the Auditor-General South Africa during the year and discussed 
issues of mutual concern and ensured that there are no other 
unresolved issues. 

The Audit Committee reviewed the audit and management 
reports for the audit of 2017 /18 annual financial statements in a 
meeting held 24 July 2018. The Committee concurs and accepts 
the conclusions of the Auditor-General on the annual financial 
statements and is of the opinion that the audited annual financial 
statements be accepted and read together with the report of the 
Auditor-General 

KMaja 
2. The Audit Committee reviewed the Entity•s compliance Chairperson of the Audit Committee - McGregor museum 

with legal and regulatory provisions during the quarterly Date: 24 July 2018 
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Report of the auditor-general to the Northern Cape Provincial Legislature on the McGregor Museum 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Qualified opinion 

1. I have audited the financial statements of the McGregor Museum set out on pages 38 to 81, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, statement of financial performance, statement of changes in 
net assets and cash flow statement for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

2. In my opinion, except for the effect of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion section of this 
auditor’s report, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posit ion of the 
McGregor Museum as at 31 March 2018, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (Standards of GRAP) and the 
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).  

Basis for qualified opinion 

Heritage assets 

3. The museum did not measure and allocate all items of heritage assets in accordance with GRAP 103, Heritage 
Assets. The fair value of heritage assets has not been determined and heritage assets has not been recognised in 
terms of the nature of the assets. I was not able to determine the full extent of the understatement of heritage assets 
as it was impracticable to do so. There was an impact on the surplus for the period and on the accumulated surplus.  

Context for the opinion 

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of this auditor’s report.  

5. I am independent of the entity in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code 
of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit in 
South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA code. 

6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my qualified 
opinion. 

 

Emphasis of matters 

7. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters. 

Restatement of corresponding figures 

8. As disclosed in note 26 to the annual financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 2017 were 
restated as a result of an error in the financial statements of the entity at, and for the year ended, 31 March 2018. 
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Significant uncertainty 

9. With reference to note 24 to the financial statements, the entity is the defendant in a lawsuit. The entity is opposing 
the claim, as it relates to a heritage site. The ultimate outcome of the matter could not be determined and no 
provision for any liability that may result was made in the financial statements. 

Irregular expenditure 

10. As disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements, irregular expenditure of R677 660 that was incurred in the 
previous years was still under investigation. 

Responsibilities of accounting authority for the financial statements 

11. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA, and for such internal control as the 
accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

12. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the McGregor 
Museum’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the accounting authority either intends to liquidate the entity or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

13. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

14. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the annexure to 
this auditor’s report. 

Report on the audit of the annual performance report 

Introduction and scope 

15. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice 
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance information 
against predetermined objectives for selected programmes presented in the annual performance report. I performed 
procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance. 

16. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance 
planning documents of the entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the performance 
indicators/ measures included in the planning documents. My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or 
assertions relating to planned performance strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be 
included as part of the reported performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters.  

17. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the criteria 
developed from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the 
following selected programmes presented in the annual performance report of the entity for the year ended 31 
March 2018: 
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Programmes Pages in the annual 
performance report 

Programme 2 – Enhancing the museum experience: Access and audience 
development 

15 – 17 

Programme 3 – Collections and research: Development and preservation of 
collections as a lasting national resource reflecting our South African 
Heritage 

17 – 19 

 

18. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and 
whether performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed further 
procedures to determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed the 
reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete. 

19. The material findings in respect of the usefulness and reliability of the selected programmes are as follows: 

Programme 3 – Collections and research: Development and preservation of collections as a lasting national 
resource reflecting our South African Heritage 

20. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for the reported achievement of the indicators listed 
below. This was due to limitations placed on the scope of my work. I was unable to confirm the reported 
achievement by alternative means. Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any adjustments were required 
to the reported achievements in the annual performance report of these indicators. 

Indicator Reported achievement 

% of researchers hosted 100% 

% queries answered 100% 

 

21. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for 
the following programme: 

Programme 2 – Enhancing the museum experience: Access and audience development. 

Other matters 

22. I draw attention to the matters below.  

Achievement of planned targets 

23. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 15 to 17; 17 to 19 for information on the achievement of planned 
targets for the year and explanations provided for the under- and overachievement of a number of targets. This 
information should be considered in the context of the material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information in paragraphs 15 - 24 of this report.  

Adjustment of material misstatements 

24. I identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material 
misstatements were on the reported performance information of Programme 3: Collections and research. As  
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management subsequently corrected only some of the misstatements, I raised material findings on the usefulness 
and reliability of the reported performance information. Those that were not corrected are reported above.  

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation 

Introduction and scope 

25. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report 
material findings on the compliance of the entity with specific matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to 
identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.  

26. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislations are as follows: 

Annual financial statements, performance reports and annual reports 

27. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial 
reporting framework, as required by section 55(1)(a) of the PFMA. Material misstatements of liabilities, revenue 
and disclosure items identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statements were corrected, but the 
uncorrected material misstatements resulted in the financial statements receiving a qualified opinion. 

Consequence management 

28. Disciplinary steps were not taken against the officials who had incurred irregular expenditure, as required by 
section 51(1)(e)(iii) of the PFMA.  

29. Disciplinary steps were not taken against the officials who had incurred fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as 
required by section 51(1)(e)(iii) of the PFMA.  

Other information 

30. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report. The other information does not include the financial statements, the auditor’s report 
and those selected programmes presented in the annual performance report that have been specifically reported in 
this auditor’s report.  

31. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and compliance with 
legislation do not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

32. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  

33. I did not receive the other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. After I receive and read this 
information, and if I conclude that there is a material misstatement, I am required to communicate the matter to 
those charged with governance and request that the other information be corrected. If the other information is not 
corrected, I may have to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. However, if it 
is corrected this will not be necessary. 

Internal control deficiencies 

34. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported performance information and 
compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. The 
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matters reported below are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the basis for the 
qualified opinion, the findings on the performance report and the findings on compliance with legislation included 
in this report. 

 The matters above, as they relate to the basis for the qualified opinion, findings on the annual performance 
report and findings on compliance with legislation, will be summarised in the auditor’s report as follows: 

 The accounting authority did not review the financial statements before submitting them resulting in material 
misstatements.  

 Management did not have documented policies and procedures to guide the operations of the ent ity, resulting 
in numerous instances of non-compliance with the PFMA. 

 The financial statements contained numerous misstatements. This was mainly due to staff not fully 
understanding the requirements of the financial reporting framework. 

 The annual performance report contained numerous misstatements. This was mainly due to staff not fully 
understanding the performance information requirements. 

 Non-compliance with legislation could have been prevented had compliance been properly reviewed and 
monitored. 

 

 

 

 

Kimberley 

31 July 2018 

 

AUDITOR-GENERAL 

SOUTH AFRICA 

Auditing to build public confidence 
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit 

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements, and the procedures performed on reported performance 
information for selected programmes and on the entity’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters. 

Financial statements 

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the accounting authority. 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting authority’s use of the going concerns basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the McGregor Museum ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the 
opinion on the financial statements. My conclusions are based on the information available to me at the 
date of this auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause an entity to cease continuing 
as a going concern. 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Communication with those charged with governance 

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during 
my audit.  

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence and communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a 
bearing on my independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.  

35 



McGregor Museum 

Annual Financial Statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2018 

These annual financial statements will be audited in 

compliance with the applicable requirements of the 

Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999. 

Published 31 May 2018 



McGregor Museum 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2018 
 

General Information 

1 

 

 

 

 
 

Country of incorporation and domicile                               South Africa 
 

Legal form of entity                                                               Public entity established in terms of the Cape Museum Ordinance 
No.8 of 1975. The entity is a non-profit entity and is focused on service 
delivery in the Northern Cape Province. The entity is listed in the 
PFMA as a schedule 3C, Public Entity. 

 
Nature of business and principal activities                        To research and conserve the natural and cultural history and diversity 

of the Northern Cape Province and promote an awareness thereof 
through service excellence. 

 
Members                                                                                 K Mathews 

D Allen 
J Ntwane 
S Setlogelo 
T Thobeli 
C Fortune 

 
Business address                                                                  2 Egerton Road 

Belgravia 
Kimberley 
8301 

 
Postal address                                                                       PO Box 316 

Kimberley 
8301 

 
Executive authority                                                               MEC of the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 

 
Bankers                                                                                  Standard Bank of South Africa 

 
Auditors                                                                                  Office of the Auditor General South Africa 

Chartered Accountants (S.A.) 
Registered Auditors 

 
Chief Executive officer                                                          S Swanepoel 

 
Level of assurance                                                                These annual financial statements will be audited in compliance with 

the applicable requirements of the Public Finance Management Act 
No.1 of 1999 

 
Published                                                                               31 May, 2018 

 
Relevant Legislation                                                              Cape Museums Ordinance No.8 of 1975 

Public Finance Management Act No.1 of 1999 
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McGregor Museum 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2018 
 

Board Of Members' Responsibilities and Approval 

 

 

 

 
 

The members are required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate accounting records 
and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in 
this report. It is the responsibility of the members to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs 
of the entity as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The 
external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements and were given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and related data. 

 
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board. 

 
The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. 

 
The members acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 
entity and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the members to meet these 
responsibilities, the board of members sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the entity and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s business 
is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is 
on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

 
The members are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or deficit. 

 
The members have reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March, 2019 and, in the light of this review and 
the current financial position, they are satisfied that the entity has access to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. 

 
The entity is wholly dependent on the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture for continued funding of operations. 
The annual financial statements are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern and that the Northern Cape 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the 
entity. 

 
Although the board of members are primarily responsible for the financial affairs of the entity, they are supported by the entity's 
external auditors. 

 
The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the entity's annual financial statements. The 
annual financial statements have been examined by the entity's external auditors and their report is presented on page 4. 

 
The annual financial statements set out on pages 4 to 45, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were 
approved by the chairman of the board on 31 May, 2018. 

 
 
 
 

K Mathews 
Board: Chairperson
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McGregor Museum 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2018 
 

Board Of Members' Report 

 

 

 

 
 

The members submit their report for the year ended 31 March, 2018. 
 

1.      Review of activities 
 

Main business and operations 
 

The entity is engaged to research and conserve the natural and cultural history and diversity of the Northern Cape Province 
and promote an awareness thereof through service excellence and operates principally in South Africa. 

 
The operating results and state of affairs of the entity are fully set out in the attached annual financial statements and do not 
in our opinion require any further comment. 

 
2.      Going concern 

 
We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March, 2018, the entity had accumulated surplus of R 6,998,992 and that the entity's 
total assets exceed its liabilities by R 6,998,992. 

 
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

 
The entity is wholly dependent on the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture for continued funding of 
operations. The financial statements are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern and the Northern Cape 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the 
entity. 

 
3.      Subsequent events 

 
The members are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year. 

 
4.      Accounting policies 

 
The following Standards on Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) have been issued but not yet effective, the 
entity did not early adopt this standards: 
GRAP 20: Related Party Disclosures 
GRAP 32: Service concession arrangements: Grantor issued August 2013; 
GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables, issued September 2013; 
GRAP109: Accounting by principles and agents; and 
IGRAP 17: Service Concessions arrangements where a Grantor controls a significant residual interest in an asset. 
GRAP 34: Separate financial statements 
GRAP 35: Consolidated financial statements 
GRAP 36: Investments in associates and joint ventures 
GRAP 37: Joint arrangements 
GRAP 38: Disclosure of interests in other entities 
GRAP 110: Living and non-living resources 
IGRAP 18: Recognition and derecognition of land 
IGRAP 19: Liabilities to pay levies 

 
All the standards as listed above will only be effective for financial years starting on or after 01 April 2018, as announced by the 
Minister of Finance. 

 
5.      Board Of Members 

 
The members of the entity during the year and to the date of this report are as follows: 

 
 

K Mathews 
D Allen 
J Ntwane 
S Setlogelo 
T Thobeli 
C Fortune
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2018 
 

Board Of Members' Report 

 

 

 

 
 

6.      Chief Executive officer 
 

The Chief Executive Officer at the date of this report is S Swanepoel. 
 
 
 
 
 

7.      Executive authority 
 

The executive authority is the MEC of the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 
 

8.      Auditors 
 

Office of the Auditor General South Africa will continue in office for the next financial period.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March, 2018 
Figures in Rand                                                                                                                   Note(s)           2018                 2017 

 
Assets 

 
Current Assets 
Receivables from exchange transactions *                                                                              7                   74,320              47,462 
Prepayments                                                                                                                            6                     5,602                1,313 
Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                      8              3,972,658         3,234,710 

4,052,580         3,283,485 
 

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment *                                                                                               3              3,346,086         3,737,996 
Intangible assets *                                                                                                                    4                   34,655              33,044 
Heritage assets                                                                                                                        5                            2                       2 

3,380,743         3,771,042 

Total Assets                                                                                                                                             7,433,323         7,054,527 
 

Liabilities 
 

Current Liabilities 
Finance lease obligation                                                                                                           9                   10,164              43,496 
Payables from exchange transactions                                                                                    11                   35,276              98,796 
Unspent conditional grants and receipts                                                                                 14                 388,891            243,968 

434,331            386,260 
 

Non-Current Liabilities 
Finance lease obligation                                                                                                          9                             -              11,462 
Total Liabilities                                                                                                                                          434,331            397,722 
Net Assets                                                                                                                                               6,998,992         6,656,805 

 

Accumulated surplus                                                                                                                                6,998,992         6,656,805 
 

* Prior year figures restated, see note 26 for detail.
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McGregor Museum 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2018 

 

 

 

Statement of Financial Performance 
Figures in Rand                                                                                                                   Note(s)           2018                 2017 

 
Revenue 

 
Revenue from exchange transactions 
Sale of goods *                                                                                                                                            540,582            601,478 
Rental of facilities and equipment                                                                                                                  45,680            150,370 
Discount received                                                                                                                                                    -                   613 
Insurance claims received                                                                                                                              36,893              41,845 
Recoveries                                                                                                                                                   161,636              35,052 
Interest received - investment                                                                                                                      264,466            191,034 
Total revenue from exchange transactions                                                                                          1,049,257         1,020,392 

 
Revenue from non-exchange transactions 

 
Transfer revenue 
Government grants & subsidies                                                                                              14             3,382,458         3,067,076 
Public contributions and donations                                                                                          15                  13,145              35,533 
Services in kind                                                                                                                        13           14,261,452       12,200,507 
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions                                                                                17,657,055       15,303,116 
Total revenue                                                                                                                                         18,706,312       16,323,508 

 
Expenditure 
Employee related costs                                                                                                           16               (180,948)         (144,386) 
Management fee for services rendered                                                                                   17          (14,261,452)    (12,200,507) 
Board member sitting allowance                                                                                             16                 (14,000)                  - 
Depreciation and amortisation *                                                                                             3&4             (661,334)          (627,674) 
Finance costs                                                                                                                          18                   (2,953)              (7,810) 
Impairment Loss                                                                                                                      19                            -             (12,395) 
Repairs and maintenance                                                                                                                          (266,676)          (451,898) 
Transfers and Subsidies                                                                                                                              (81,070)            (73,700) 
General Expenses                                                                                                                   20            (2,872,561)       (2,705,361) 
Total expenditure                                                                                                                                (18,340,994)     (16,223,731) 
Operating surplus                                                                                                                                      365,318              99,777 
Impairment loss                                                                                                                                            (23,130)            (12,480) 
Surplus for the year                                                                                                                                   342,188              87,297 

 
* Prior year figures are restated, see note 26  for detail.
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McGregor Museum 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2018 

 

 

 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
 

Figures in Rand 

 
 
 
Accumulated 

surplus 

 
 
 
Total net 
assets

 
Opening balance as previously reported                                                                                                  5,748,698         5,748,698 
Adjustments 
Prior year adjustments                                                                                                                                 820,477            820,477 
Balance at 1 April, 2016 as restated*                                                                                                    6,569,175         6,569,175 
Changes in net assets 
Surplus for the year (Restated note 26)                                                                                                        87,297              87,297 
Total changes                                                                                                                                                87,297              87,297 

 
Restated Balance at 01 April 2017 *                                                                                                      6,656,804         6,656,804 
Changes in net assets 
Surplus for the year                                                                                                                                     342,188            342,188 
Total changes                                                                                                                                              342,188            342,188 
Balance at 31 March, 2018                                                                                                                     6,998,992         6,998,992 

 

.
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McGregor Museum 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2018 

 

 

 

Cash flow statement 
Figures in Rand                                                                                                                   Note(s)           2018                 2017 

 
 

Cash flows from operating activities 
 

Receipts 
Transfers, subsidies and other                                                                                                                 3,686,984         3,060,329 
Sale of goods and services                                                                                                                         513,724            774,345 
Rental of facilities                                                                                                                                          45,680            150,370 
Interest income                                                                                                                                            264,466            191,034 
Other cash item                                                                                                                                           138,529                        - 

 

4,649,383         4,176,078 
 

Payments 
Employee costs                                                                                                                                      (194,888)          (144,386) 
Rental of land and buildings                                                                                                                  (6,840)              (6,840) 
Other payments                                                                                                                                       (3,367,795)       (3,222,431) 

(3,569,523)       (3,373,657) 

Net cash flows from operating activities                                                                            21             1,079,860            802,421 
 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment *                                                                           3                (278,399)          (207,379) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment *                                                           3                           (2)                       - 
Purchase of other intangible assets                                                                                         4                  (15,764)              (2,239) 
Capitalised development costs                                                                                                 4                             -              12,480 
Proceeds from sale of other intangible assets                                                                          4                             -             (12,480) 
Recoveries                                                                                                                                                               -              16,965 

 

Net cash flows from investing activities                                                                                                (294,165)          (192,653) 
 

Cash flows from financing activities 
 

Finance lease payments                                                                                                                              (47,747)            (47,774) 
 
 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                                                                         737,948            561,994 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year                                                                          3,234,710         2,672,716 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year                                                              8               3,972,658         3,234,710

 

Cash flow statement 
Figures in Rand                                                                                                                   Note(s)           2018                 2017 

 
 

Cash flows from operating activities 
 

Receipts 
Transfers, subsidies and other                                                                                                                 3,686,984         3,060,329 
Sale of goods and services                                                                                                                         513,724            774,345 
Rental of facilities                                                                                                                                          45,680            150,370 
Interest income                                                                                                                                            264,466            191,034 
Other cash item                                                                                                                                           138,529                        - 

 

4,649,383         4,176,078 
 

Payments 
Employee costs                                                                                                                                      (194,888)          (144,386) 
Rental of land and buildings                                                                                                                  (6,840)              (6,840) 
Other payments                                                                                                                                       (3,367,795)       (3,222,431) 

(3,569,523)       (3,373,657) 

Net cash flows from operating activities                                                                            21             1,079,860            802,421 
 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment *                                                                           3                (278,399)          (207,379) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment *                                                           3                           (2)                       - 
Purchase of other intangible assets                                                                                         4                  (15,764)              (2,239) 
Capitalised development costs                                                                                                4                             -              12,480 
Proceeds from sale of other intangible assets                                                                         4                             -             (12,480) 
Recoveries                                                                                                                                                               -              16,965 

 

Net cash flows from investing activities                                                                                                (294,165)          (192,653) 
 

Cash flows from financing activities 
 

Finance lease payments                                                                                                                              (47,747)            (47,774) 
 
 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                                                                         737,948            561,994 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year                                                                          3,234,710         2,672,716 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year                                                              8               3,972,658         3,234,710
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Accounting Policies 

 

 

 

 
 

1.      Presentation of Annual Financial Statements 
 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act 1 of 1999). 

 
These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical 
cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand. 

 
A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these annual 
financial statements, are disclosed below. 

 
GRAP 1 Presentation of financial statement 

 
GRAP 2 Cash flow statements 

 
GRAP 3 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors 

 
GRAP 4 The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 

 
GRAP 5 Borrowing cost 

 
GRAP 6 Consolidated and separate financial statements 

 
GRAP 7 Investment in associate 

 
GRAP 8 Interest in joint ventures 

 
GRAP 9 Revenue from exchange transactions 

 
GRAP 10 Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies 

 
GRAP 11 Construction contracts 

 
GRAP 12 Inventories 

 
GRAP 13 Leases 

 
GRAP 14 Events after reporting dates 

 
GRAP 16 Investment property 

 
GRAP 17 Property, plant and equipment 

 
GRAP 18 Segment Reporting 

 
GRAP 19 Provisions, contingent liabilities and assets 

 
GRAP 21 Impairment of non-cash generating assets 

 
GRAP 23 Revenue from non-exchange transactions (taxes and transfers) 

GRAP 24 Presentation of budget information in financial statements 

GRAP 25 Employee benefits 

GRAP 26 Impairment of non-cash generating assets 
 

GRAP 31 Intangible assets 
 

GRAP 100 Discontinued operations 
 

GRAP 103 Heritage assets
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Accounting Policies 

 

 

 

 
 

GRAP 104 Financial instruments 
 

GRAP 105 Transfer of functions between entities under common control 

GRAP 106 Transfer of functions between entities NOT under common control 

GRAP 107 Mergers 

IPSAS 20 Related parties 
 

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period 
 

1.1    Presentation currency 
 

These annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity. 
 

1.2    Going concern assumption 
 

These annual financial statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the entity will continue to operate as 
a going concern for at least the next 12 months. 

 
1.3    Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts presented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application 
of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may 
be material to the annual financial statements. Significant judgements include: 

 
Trade receivables / Held to maturity investments and/or loans and receivables 

 
The entity assesses its trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables for impairment at the end of 
each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the surplus makes 
judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 
financial asset. 

 
Fair value estimation 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on 
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the entity is 
the current bid price. 

 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the counter derivatives) is 
determined by using valuation techniques. The entity uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments 
are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for 
the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at 
the end of the reporting period. 

 
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. 
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the entity for similar financial instruments. 

 
Impairment testing 

 
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value- 
in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is 
reasonably possible that the recoverability assumption may change which may then impact our estimations and may then 
require a material adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill and tangible assets.
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1.3    Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Allowance for doubtful debts 

On debtors an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. The 
impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition. 

 
Level of rounding 

 
Due to the fact that different systems are used for compilation of AFS, rounding to the nearest rand is used. 

 
1.4    Property, plant and equipment * 

 
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during more than one reporting period. 

 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment * is recognised as an asset when: 

        it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and 
        the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

 
Property, plant and equipment * is initially measured at cost. 

 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment * is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and 
rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. 

 
Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition. 

 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment * is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a 
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the 
acquired item's fair value was not determinable, it's deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up. 

 
The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment *, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where the 
obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production of inventories. 

 
Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment * ceases when the item is in the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

 
Property, plant and equipment * is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

 
Property, plant and equipment * are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value. 

 
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment * have been assessed as follows: 

 
Item                                                                                                          Depreciation method         Average useful life 
Sundry equipment                                                                                    Straight line                          2 to 14 years 
Audio visual equipment                                                                            Straight line                          4 to 12 years 
Furniture                                                                                                   Straight line                          7 to 20 years 
Motor Vehicles                                                                                         Straight line                          6 to 18 years 
Garden equipment                                                                                   Straight line                          5 to 12 years 
Computer hardware                                                                                 Straight line                          1 to 12 years 
Leased computer equipment                                                                   Straight line                          3 to 10 years 
Workshop equipment                                                                                     Straight line                        9 to 14years 

 
The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed annually. If the expectations differ from 
previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. 

 
Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis does not require the entity to amend the previous estimate unless 
expectations differ from the previous estimate.
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1.3    Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Allowance for doubtful debts 

On debtors an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. The 
impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition. 

 
Level of rounding 

 
Due to the fact that different systems are used for compilation of AFS, rounding to the nearest rand is used. 

 
1.4    Property, plant and equipment * 

 
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during more than one reporting period. 

 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment * is recognised as an asset when: 

        it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and 
        the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

 
Property, plant and equipment * is initially measured at cost. 

 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment * is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and 
rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. 

 
Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition. 

 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment * is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a 
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the 
acquired item's fair value was not determinable, it's deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up. 

 
The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment *, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where the 
obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production of inventories. 

 
Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment * ceases when the item is in the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

 
Property, plant and equipment * is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

 
Property, plant and equipment * are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value. 

 
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment * have been assessed as follows: 

 
Item                                                                                                          Depreciation method         Average useful life 
Sundry equipment                                                                                    Straight line                          2 to 14 years 
Audio visual equipment                                                                            Straight line                          4 to 12 years 
Furniture                                                                                                   Straight line                          7 to 20 years 
Motor Vehicles                                                                                         Straight line                          6 to 18 years 
Garden equipment                                                                                   Straight line                          5 to 12 years 
Computer hardware                                                                                 Straight line                          1 to 12 years 
Leased computer equipment                                                                   Straight line                          3 to 10 years 
Workshop equipment                                                                                     Straight line                        9 to 14years 

 
The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed annually. If the expectations differ from 
previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. 

 
Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis does not require the entity to amend the previous estimate unless 
expectations differ from the previous estimate.
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1.4    Property, plant and equipment * (continued) 
 

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset. 

 
Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use or disposal of the asset. 

 
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when 
the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item. 

 
1.5    Intangible assets * 

 
An asset is identifiable if it either: 

 is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or 
exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of 
whether the entity intends to do so; or 

 arises from binding arrangements (including rights from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are 
transferable or separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations. 

 
A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as if it were in 
the form of a contract. 

 
An intangible asset is recognised when: 

 it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the entity; and 

         the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. 
 

The entity assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and supportable 
assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over the useful life of 
the asset. 

 
Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is measured 
at its fair value as at that date. 

 
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. 

 
An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable 
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. 

 
Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an 
indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over 
their useful life. 

 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date. 

 
Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that 
the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over 
its useful life. 

 
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows: 

 
 
 
 

Item                                                                                                          Depreciation method         Average useful life 
Computer software                                                                                   Straight line                          12 years
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1.6    Heritage assets 
 

Assets are resources controlled by an entity as a result of past events and from which future economic benefits or service 
potential are expected to flow to the entity. 

 
Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting accumulated impairment losses. Class of 
heritage assets means a grouping of heritage assets of a similar nature or function in an entity’s operations that is shown as a 
single item for the purpose of disclosure in the financial statements. 

 
Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire an asset at the 
time  of  its  acquisition  or  construction  or,  where  applicable,  the  amount  attributed  to  that  asset  when  initially  recognised  
in accordance with the specific requirements of other Standards of GRAP. 

 
Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. 

 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. 

 
Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological or artistic significance 
and are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future generations. Land and buildings include the following: Various land 
and buildings, situated in Kimberley and surrounds, owned by the Board of Trustees of the Museum, plus a section of land near 
Kuruman over which the Board holds servitude.  Various other land and buildings, situated and Kimberley and surrounds, made 
available to the Museum as the custodian on a permanent basis. These properties are encumbered and fully described in note 4. 
The properties are all declared Provincial or National Heritage Sites. 

 
Displays and collections include the following: Displays, by virtue of being permanent features inseparable from the museum 
buildings in which they are housed, are defines as defined as heritage assets. Museum collections are also defined as heritage 
assets. 

 
An  impairment  loss  of  a  non-cash-generating  asset  is  the  amount  by  which  the  carrying  amount  of  an  asset  exceeds  
its recoverable service amount. 

 
An inalienable item is an asset that an entity is required by law or otherwise to retain indefinitely and cannot be disposed of 
without consent. 

 
Recoverable amount is the higher of a cash-generating asset’s net selling price and its value in use. 

Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Value in use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or 
cash-generating unit. 

 
Value in use of a non-cash-generating asset is the present value of the asset’s remaining service potential. 

 
Recognition 

 
The entity recognises a heritage asset as an asset if it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the asset will flow to the entity, and the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. Expenses incurred in 
building of new displays are written off in the period of which they are incurred. Acquisitions, including library materials, are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.. 

 
Initial measurement 

 
Heritage assets are measured at cost. 

 
Where a heritage asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is measured at its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition.
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1.6    Heritage assets (continued) 

Subsequent measurement 

After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets is carried at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
 

After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets, whose fair value can be measured reliably, is carried at a revalued 
amount, being its fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent impairment losses. 

 
If a heritage asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase is credited directly to a revaluation 
surplus. However, the increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the 
same heritage asset previously recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
If a heritage asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease is recognised in surplus or def icit. 
However, the decrease is debited directly to a revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation 
surplus in respect of that heritage asset. 

 
Impairment 

 
The entity assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that it may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
entity estimates the recoverable amount or the recoverable service amount of the heritage asset. 

 
Transfers 

 
Transfers from heritage assets are only made when the particular asset no longer meets the definition of a heritage asset. 

Transfers to heritage assets are only made when the asset meets the definition of a heritage asset. 

Derecognition 
 

The entity derecognises heritage asset on disposal, or when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from 
its use or disposal. 

 
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of a heritage asset is included in surplus or deficit when the item is 
derecognised (unless the Standard of GRAP on leases requires otherwise on a sale and leaseback). 

 
1.7    Financial instruments 

 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual 
interest of another entity. 

 
The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or 
through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility. 

 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 
an obligation. 

 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. 

 
Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement of 
financial position. 

 
A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics: 

 Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, 
foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of 
a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’). 

 It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types 
of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors. 

         It is settled at a future date.
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1.7    Financial instruments (continued) 
 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group of 
financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the 
financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider future credit losses. The 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate (see the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions), transaction costs, and all other premiums or 
discounts. There is a presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be 
estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the expected life 
of a financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full 
contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial instruments). 

 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. 

 
A financial asset is: 

        cash; 
        a residual interest of another entity; or 
        a contractual right to: 

-       receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or 
-       exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially    
        favourable to the entity. 

 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a 
debt instrument. 

 
A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to: 

        deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
        exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity. 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

 
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

 
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors 
specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the 
market. 

 
A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due. 

 
A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. A 
residual interest includes contributions from owners, which may be shown as: 

        equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital; 
 a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the transaction as 

forming part of an entity’s net assets, either before the contribution occurs or at the time of the contribution; or 
 a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing financial interest in the net 

assets of an entity. 
 

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or 
financial liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or 
disposed of the financial instrument.

52 



17 

McGregor Museum 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2018 
 

Accounting Policies 

 

 

 

 
 

1.7    Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have fixed 
or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that: 

        the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or 
        are held for trading. 

 
Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, 
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. 

 
Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are: 

        derivatives; 
        combined instruments that are designated at fair value; 
        instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if: 

-       it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or 
-       on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for 
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking; 
-       non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at 
fair value at initial recognition; and 
-       financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial 
instruments at cost. 

 
Classification 

 
The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of 
financial position or in the notes thereto: 

 
`  

 
Class                                                                                                  Category 

 
Trade and other receivables                                                      Financial asset measured at amortised cost 
Cash and cash equivalents                                                        Financial asset measured at amortised cost 

 
The entity has the following types of financial liabilities (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of 
financial position or in the notes thereto: 

 
`  

 
Class                                                                                                  Category 

Finance lease liability                                                                 Financial liability measured at amortised cost 
Trade and other payables                                                          Financial liability measured at amortised cost 

 
Initial recognition 

 
The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when the entity becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
The entity recognises financial assets using trade date accounting. 

 
Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. 

The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially at its fair value [if subsequently measured at fair value]. 

The entity first assesses whether the substance of a concessionary loan is in fact a loan. On initial recognition, the entity 
analyses a concessionary loan into its component parts and accounts for each component separately. The entity accounts for 
that part of a concessionary loan that is: 

 a social benefit in accordance with the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, 
where it is the issuer of the loan; or 

         non-exchange revenue, in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions 
(Taxes and Transfers), where it is the recipient of the loan.
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1.7    Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 

The entity measures all financial assets and financial liabilities after initial recognition using the following categories: 
        Financial instruments at fair value. 
        Financial instruments at amortised cost. 
        Financial instruments at cost. 

 
All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are subject to an impairment review. 

 
Fair value measurement considerations 

 
The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the 
entity establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective of using a valuation technique is to establish what the 
transaction price would have been on the measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal operating 
considerations. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing 
parties, if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis and option pricing models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price the 
instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market 
transactions, the entity uses that technique. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs and relies 
as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. It incorporates all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price 
and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. Periodically, an entity calibrates the 
valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable current market transactions in the same instrument 
(i.e. without modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable market data. 

 
The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable on 
demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid. 

 
Reclassification 

 
The entity does not reclassify a financial instrument while it is issued or held unless it is: 

        combined instrument that is required to be measured at fair value; or 
        an investment in a residual interest that meets the requirements for reclassification. 

 
Where the entity cannot reliably measure the fair value of an embedded derivative that has been separated from a host 
contract that is a financial instrument at a subsequent reporting date, it measures the combined instrument at fair value. This 
requires a reclassification of the instrument from amortised cost or cost to fair value. 

 
If fair value can no longer be measured reliably for an investment in a residual interest measured at fair value, the entity 
reclassifies the investment from fair value to cost. The carrying amount at the date that fair value is no longer available 
becomes the cost. 

 
If a reliable measure becomes available for an investment in a residual interest for which a measure was previously not 
available, and the instrument would have been required to be measured at fair value, the entity reclassifies the instrument from 
cost to fair value. 

 
Gains and losses 

 
A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or financial liability measured at fair value is 
recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit 
when the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or impaired, or through the amortisation process. 

 
Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets 

 
The entity assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. 

 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
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1.7    Financial instruments (continued) 
 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly OR through the use of an allowance account. The 
amount of the loss is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed directly OR by 
adjusting an allowance account. The reversal does not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount 
of the reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
Financial assets measured at cost: 

 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual interest that is not 
measured at fair value because its fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as 
the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed.
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1.7    Financial instruments (continued) 

Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date accounting. 

The entity derecognises a financial asset only when: 
         the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled or waived; 
         the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or 
 the entity, despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, has 

transferred control of the asset to another party and the other party has the practical ability to sell the asset in its 
entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to impose 
additional restrictions on the transfer. In this case, the entity : 
-       derecognise the asset; and 
-       recognise separately any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer. 

 
The carrying amounts of the transferred asset are allocated between the rights or obligations retained and those transferred on 
the basis of their relative fair values at the transfer date. Newly created rights and obligations are measured at their fair values 
at that date. Any difference between the consideration received and the amounts recognised and derecognised is recognised 
in surplus or deficit in the period of the transfer. 

 
If the entity transfers a financial asset in a transfer that qualifies for derecognition in its entirety and retains the right to service 
the financial asset for a fee, it recognise either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for that servicing contract. If the fee to be 
received is not expected to compensate the entity adequately for performing the servicing, a servicing liability for the servicing 
obligation is recognised at its fair value. If the fee to be received is expected to be more than adequate compensation for the 
servicing, a servicing asset is recognised for the servicing right at an amount determined on the basis of an allocation of the 
carrying amount of the larger financial asset. 

 
If, as a result of a transfer, a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety but the transfer results in the entity obtaining a new 
financial asset or assuming a new financial liability, or a servicing liability, the entity recognise the new financial asset, financial 
liability or servicing liability at fair value. 

 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
If the transferred asset is part of a larger financial asset and the part transferred qualifies for derecognition in its entirety, the 
previous carrying amount of the larger financial asset is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part 
that is derecognised, based on the relative fair values of those parts, on the date of the transfer. For this purpose, a retained 
servicing asset is treated as a part that continues to be recognised. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to 
the part derecognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part derecognised is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the entity has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the transferred asset, the entity continue to recognise the transferred asset in its entirety and recognise a financial liability for 
the consideration received. In subsequent periods, the entity recognises any revenue on the transferred asset and any expense 
incurred on the financial liability. Neither the asset, and the associated liability nor the revenue, and the associated expenses are 
offset. 

 
Financial liabilities 

 
The entity removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position when it is 
extinguished — i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, expires or waived. 

 
An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms is accounted for as 
having extinguished the original financial liability and a new financial liability is recognised. Similarly, a substantial modification 
of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it is accounted for as having extinguished the original financial liability and 
having recognised a new financial liability.
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1.7    Financial instruments (continued) 
 

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
surplus or deficit. Any liabilities that are waived, forgiven or assumed by another entity by way of a non-exchange transaction 
are accounted for in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and 
Transfers). 

 
Presentation 

 
Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in 
surplus or deficit. 

 
Dividends or similar distributions relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as 
revenue or expense in surplus or deficit. 

 
Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or 
expense in surplus or deficit. 

 
A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when the entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the entity does not offset the transferred 
asset and the associated liability. 

 
1.8    Leases 

 
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

 
When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the entity assesses the classification of each element separately. 

 
Finance leases - lessee 

 
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of 
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

 
The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the . 

 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of on the remaining balance 
of the liability. 

 
Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
1.9    Impairment of non-cash-generating assets 

 
Cash-generating assets are assets managed with the objective of generating a commercial return. An asset generates a 
commercial return when it is deployed in a manner consistent with that adopted by a profit-oriented entity. 

 
Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-generating assets. 

 
Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition 
of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation). 

 
Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon. 

 
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets managed with the objective of generating a commercial 
return that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets.
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1.9    Impairment of non-cash-generating assets (continued) 
 

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income tax 
expense. 

 
Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. 

 
Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal. 

Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Useful life is either: 
(a)    the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the entity; or 
(b)    the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the entity. 

 
Identification 

 
When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired. 

 
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset. 

 
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the entity also test a non-cash-generating intangible asset with an 
indefinite useful life or a non-cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its 
carrying amount with its recoverable service amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time every year. If an 
intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that intangible asset was tested for impairment 
before the end of the current reporting period. 

 
Value in use 

Value in use of non-cash-generating assets is the present value of the non-cash-generating assets remaining service potential. 

The present value of the remaining service potential of non-cash-generating assets is determined using the following 
approach: 

 
Depreciated replacement cost approach 

 
The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-cash-generating asset is determined as the depreciated 
replacement cost of the asset. The replacement cost of an asset is the cost to replace the asset’s gross service potential. This 
cost is depreciated to reflect the asset in its used condition. An asset may be replaced either through reproduction (replication) 
of the existing asset or through replacement of its gross service potential. The depreciated replacement cost is measured as 
the reproduction or replacement cost of the asset, whichever is lower, less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of 
such cost, to reflect the already consumed or expired service potential of the asset. 

 
The replacement cost and reproduction cost of an asset is determined on an “optimised” basis. The rationale is that the entity 
would not replace or reproduce the asset with a like asset if the asset to be replaced or reproduced is an overdesigned or 
overcapacity asset. Overdesigned assets contain features which are unnecessary for the goods or services the asset provides. 
Overcapacity assets are assets that have a greater capacity than is necessary to meet the demand for goods or services the 
asset provides. The determination of the replacement cost or reproduction cost of an asset on an optimised basis thus reflects 
the service potential required of the asset.
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1.9    Impairment of non-cash-generating assets (continued) 

Recognition and measurement 

If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. This reduction is an impairment loss. 

 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. 

 
Any impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

 
When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset to 
which it relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the Standards of GRAP. 

 
After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), 
on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 
Reversal of an impairment loss 

 
The entity assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a 
non-cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the 
recoverable service amount of that asset. 

 
An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable service amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable service amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. 
The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior periods. 

 
A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. 

Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation increase. 

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset 
is adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), 
on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 
Redesignation 

 
The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating asset 
to a cash-generating asset only occur when there is clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate. 

 
1.10  Employee benefits 

 
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees. 

 
A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined in the Standard of 
GRAP on Related Party Disclosures) of the reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy can be used only to pay or fund 
employee benefits under a defined benefit plan and are not available to the reporting entity’s own creditors (even in liquidation) 
and cannot be paid to the reporting entity, unless either: 

 the proceeds represent surplus assets that are not needed for the policy to meet all the related employee benefit 
obligations; or 

         the proceeds are returned to the reporting entity to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid. 
 

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either: 
        an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or 

          an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. 
 

Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination benefits) that 
are not due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.
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1.10 Employee benefits (continued) 
 

Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment. 
 

Composite social security programmes are established by legislation and operate as multi-employer plans to provide post- 
employment benefits as well as to provide benefits that are not consideration in exchange for service rendered by employees. 

 
A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from an entity’s actions where by an established pattern of past practice, 
published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, the entity has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain 
responsibilities and as a result, the entity has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge 
those responsibilities. 

 
Short-term employee benefits 

 
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within twelve 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. 

 
Short-term employee benefits include items such as: 

         wages, salaries and social security contributions; 
 short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the compensation for the 

absences is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees 
render the related employee service; 

 bonus, incentive and performance related payments payable within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service; and 

 non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars 
and cellphones) for current employees. 

 
When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period, the entity recognise the undiscounted amount 
of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service: 

 as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the 
undiscounted amount of the benefits, the entity recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent 
that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and 

         as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset. 
 

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase 
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. The entity measure the expected 
cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional amount that the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date. 

 
The entity recognise the expected cost of bonus, incentive and performance related payments when the entity has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can 
be made. A present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the payments. 

 
1.11 Provisions and contingencies 

 
Provisions are recognised when: 

         the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event; 
 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to 

settle the obligation; and 
         a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. 

 
The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date. 

 
Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

 
The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the liability.
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1.11 Provisions and contingencies (continued) 
 

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles 
the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement does not 
exceed the amount of the provision. 

 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it is 
no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required, to settle the 
obligation. 

 
Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This 
increase is recognised as an interest expense. 

 
A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating surplus. 

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and 
measured as a provision. 

 
A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity: 

        has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least: 
-       the activity/operating unit or part of a activity/operating unit concerned; 
-       the principal locations affected; 
-       the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for services being 
terminated; 
-       the expenditures that will be undertaken; and 
-       when the plan will be implemented; and 

 has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that 
plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. 

 
A restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those that are both: 

        necessarily entailed by the restructuring; and 
        not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity 

 
No obligation arises as a consequence of the sale or transfer of an operation until the entity is committed to the sale or 
transfer, that is, there is a binding arrangement. 

 
After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in entity combinations that are recognised separately are 
subsequently measured at the higher of: 

        the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and 
        the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation. 

 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 24. 

 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a 
debt instrument. 

 
Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions. 

 
The entity recognises a provision for financial guarantees and loan commitments when it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits and service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of 
the obligation can be made. 

 
Determining whether an outflow of resources is probable in relation to financial guarantees requires judgement. Indications that 
an outflow of resources may be probable are: 

         financial difficulty of the debtor; 
         defaults or delinquencies in interest and capital repayments by the debtor; 
 breaches of the terms of the debt instrument that result in it being payable earlier than the agreed term and the 

ability of the debtor to settle its obligation on the amended terms; and
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1.11  Provisions and contingencies (continued) 
 a decline in prevailing economic circumstances (e.g. high interest rates, inflation and unemployment) that impact on 

the ability of entities to repay their obligations. 
 

Where a fee is received by the entity for issuing a financial guarantee and/or where a fee is charged on loan commitments, it is 
considered in determining the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at reporting date. Where a fee is 
charged and the entity considers that an outflow of economic resources is probable, an entity recognises the obligation at the 
higher of: 

         the amount determined using in the Standard of GRAP on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; 
and 

 the amount of the fee initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance 
with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions. 

 
1.12 Revenue from exchange transactions 

 
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an 
increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners. 

 
An exchange transaction is one in which the municipality receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange. 

 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction. 

 
Measurement 

 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates. 

 
Sale of goods 

 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied: 

         the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 
 the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 

effective control over the goods sold; 
         the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
         it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; 

and 
         the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
Rendering of services 

 
When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with 
the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome 
of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied: 

        the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
        it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; 
        the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and 
        the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised on a 
straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents the stage of 
completion. When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed until the 
significant act is executed. 

 
When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable. 

 
Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage of 
completion is determined by the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the total estimated costs of the transaction.
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1.12 Revenue from exchange transactions (continued) 

Interest, royalties and dividends 

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties and dividends or similar distributions is 
recognised when: 

 It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, 
and 

        The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. 
 

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method. 
 

Royalties are recognised as they are earned in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements. 
 

Dividends or similar distributions are recognised, in surplus or deficit, when the entity’s right to receive payment has been 
established. 

 
Service fees included in the price of the product are recognised as revenue over the period during which the service is 
performed. 

 
1.13 Revenue from non-exchange transactions 

 
Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, which 
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners. 

 
Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in 
the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service potential must be 
returned to the transferor. 

 
Control of an asset arise when the entity can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives and can exclude 
or otherwise regulate the access of others to that benefit. 

 
Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and 
directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to another entity in 
exchange. 

 
Expenses paid through the tax system are amounts that are available to beneficiaries regardless of whether or not they pay 
taxes. 

 
Fines are economic benefits or service potential received or receivable by entities, as determined by a court or other law 
enforcement body, as a consequence of the breach of laws or regulations. 

 
Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an entity either 
receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to another 
entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange. 

 
Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset may be used, 
but do not specify that future economic benefits or service potential is required to be returned to the transferor if not deployed 
as specified. 

 
Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or regulation, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon the use of a 
transferred asset by entities external to the reporting entity. 

 
Tax expenditures are preferential provisions of the tax law that provide certain taxpayers with concessions that are not available 
to others. 

The taxable event is the event that the government, legislature or other authority has determined will be subject to taxation. 

Taxes are economic benefits or service potential compulsorily paid or payable to entities, in accordance with laws and or 
regulations, established to provide revenue to government. Taxes do not include fines or other penalties imposed for breaches 
of the law. 

 
Transfers are inflows of future economic benefits or service potential from non-exchange transactions, other than taxes.
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1.13 Revenue from non-exchange transactions (continued) 

Recognition 

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the extent 
that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow. 

 
As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange 
transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an amount of 
revenue equal to that reduction. 

 
Measurement 

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity. 

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to the 
amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a liability. 
Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best estimate of the amount required to settle the 
obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is 
subsequently reduced, because the taxable event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is 
recognised as revenue. 

 
Transfers 

 
Apart from Services in kind, which are not recognised, the entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the 
transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset. 

 
The entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy 
the criteria for recognition as an asset. 

 
Transferred assets are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

 
1.14 Investment income 

 
Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 

 
1.15 Comparative figures 

 
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year. See 
note 25 for detail. 

 
1.16 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

 
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been 
exercised. 

 
All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the 
expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance. 

 
1.17 Irregular expenditure 

 
Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in 
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including - 

(a)    this Act; or 
(b)     the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or 
(c)     any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government. 

 
National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the PFMA requires 
the following (effective from 1 April 2008):
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1.17 Irregular expenditure (continued) 
 

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was condoned before year 
end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure 
register. In such an instance, no further action is also required with the exception of updating the note to the financial 
statements. 

 
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement is being 
awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is required with the exception of 
updating the note to the financial statements. 

 
Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial year, the 
register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned. 

 
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned by the 
National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. If liability for the 
irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate 
steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the accounting 
officer or accounting authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in the relevant note to the 
financial statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has not 
been condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant 
programme/expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly in the 
irregular expenditure register. 

 
1.18 Related parties 

 
The entity operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South African 
Government. As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of government in South Africa, only 
entities within the national sphere of government are considered to be related parties. 

 
Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including those 
charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are required to perform such 
functions. 

 
Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that management in their dealings with the entity. 

 
Only transactions with related parties not at arm’s length or not in the ordinary course of business are disclosed. 

 
1.19 Commitments 

 
Commitments are not recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the statement of 

financial performance, but are included in the disclosure notes. 

Commitments are disclosed for: 
 

- Approved and contracted commitments, where the expenditure has been approved and the contract has been awarded at the 

reporting date. 

- Approved, but not yet contracted commitments, where the expenditure has been approved and the contract has yet to be 

awarded or is awaiting finalisation at the reporting date. 

- Items are classified as commitments where the entity commits itself to future transactions that will normally result in the 

outflow of resources. 

1.20 Change in accounting policies, estimates and errors 
 

Changes in accounting policies that are effected by management have been applied retrospectively in accordance with GRAP
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1.20 Change in accounting policies, estimates and errors (continued) 
 

3 requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of 

the change in policy. In such cases the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the 

earliest period for which retrospective restatement is practicable. 

Changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively in accordance with GRAP 3 requirements. Details of changes in 

estimates are disclosed in the notes to the annual financial statements where applicable. 

Correction of errors is applied retrospectively in the period in which the error has occurred in accordance with GRAP 3 
 

requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the 

error. In such cases the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for 

which retrospective restatement is practicable. Refer to note 25 to the Annual Financial Statements for details of corrections of 

errors recorded during the period under review.
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2.      New standards and interpretations 

 
2.1    Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective 

 
The following standards of GRAP have been issued but not yet effective and the entity did not early adopt these Standards. 

 
Standard/ Interpretation: 

 GRAP 20: Related parties                                                          1 April, 2019                        Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals and Agents                     1 April, 2019                        Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables                                             1 April, 2019                        Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 GRAP 32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor            1 April, 2019                        Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

          IGRAP 17: Service Concession Arrangements where a 
Grantor Controls a Significant Residual Interest in an Asset 
 

To be determined                Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

 GRAP 34: Separate financial statements                                   To be determined                Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 GRAP 35:  Consolidated financial statements                           To be determined                Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 GRAP 36: Investments in associates and joint ventures           To be determined                Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 GRAP 37: Joint arrangements                                                   To be determined                Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 GRAP 38: Disclosure of interests in other entities                     To be determined                Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 GRAP 110: Living and non-living resources                              1 April, 2020                        Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 IGRAP 18: Recognition and derecognition of land                    1 April, 2019                        Unlikely there will be a 
material impact 

 IGRAP 19: Liabilities to pay levies                                             1 April, 2019                        Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

         Directive 12: The Selection of an Appropriate Reporting 
Framework by Public Entities 

1 April, 2018                        Unlikely there will be a   
material impact

 
 
 

3.      Property, plant and equipment * 
 

2018                                                                   2017
Cost / Accumulated Carrying value        Cost / Accumulated Carrying value

Valuation depreciation 
and 

accumulated 
impairment 

Valuation depreciation 
and 

accumulated 
impairment

Leased computer equipment                  188,867           (182,532)               6,335            188,867           (144,785)             44,082 
Furniture and fixtures                           3,037,576        (1,422,541)        1,615,035         2,974,832        (1,119,847)        1,854,985 
Motor vehicles                                      1,611,496           (701,937)           909,559         1,611,496           (600,290)        1,011,206 
Office equipment                                     210,109             (82,025)           128,084            166,994             (58,951)           108,043 
IT equipment                                           966,216           (689,064)           277,152            900,032           (610,380)           289,652 
Garden equipment                                  191,631           (119,698)             71,933            172,770             (98,675)             74,095 
Audio/Visual equipment                          357,151           (261,779)             95,372            324,504           (236,711)             87,793 
Sundry equipment                                   462,303           (236,144)           226,159            407,453           (162,955)           244,498 
Workshop equipment                                82,205             (65,748)             16,457              82,205             (58,563)             23,642 
Total                                                     7,107,554        (3,761,468)        3,346,086         6,829,153        (3,091,157)        3,737,996
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3.      Property, plant and equipment * (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment * - 2018 

Opening 
balance 

Additions  Loss 
impairment 

Depreciation          Total

Leased computer equipment                                              44,082                        -                        -             (37,747)               6,335 
Furniture and fixtures                                                     1,854,985              62,743                  (391)          (302,302)        1,615,035 
Motor vehicles                                                                1,011,206                        -                  (113)          (101,534)           909,559 
Office equipment                                                               108,043              43,115                        -             (23,074)           128,084 
IT equipment                                                                     289,652              66,184                  (234)            (78,450)           277,152 
Garden equipment                                                              74,095              18,860               (2,006)            (19,016)             71,933 
Audio/Visual equipment                                                      87,793              32,647               (1,025)            (24,043)             95,372 
Sundry equipment                                                             244,498              54,850             (19,359)            (53,830)           226,159 
Workshop equipment                                                          23,642                        -                        -               (7,185)             16,457 

 3,737,996            278,399             (23,128)          (647,181)        3,346,086 
 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment * - 2017 
Opening 
balance 

Additions      Depreciation          Total

Leased computer equipment                                                                       81,829                        -             (37,747)             44,082 
Furniture and fixtures                                                                              2,081,831              69,966           (296,812)        1,854,985 
Motor vehicles                                                                                         1,112,740                        -           (101,534)        1,011,206 
Office equipment                                                                                        129,724                        -             (21,681)           108,043 
IT equipment                                                                                              293,524              66,567             (70,439)           289,652 
Garden equipment                                                                                       54,498              33,356             (13,759)             74,095 
Audio/Visual equipment                                                                             104,492                5,646             (22,345)             87,793 
Sundry equipment                                                                                      262,865              31,844             (50,211)           244,498 
Workshop equipment                                                                                   30,827                        -               (7,185)             23,642 

 4,152,330            207,379           (621,713)        3,737,996 
 

Pledged as security 
 

No Property, plant and equipment is pledged as security for liabilities, there is no property, plant and equipment whose title is 
restricted and there are also no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment. 

 
Assets subject to finance lease (Net carrying amount) 

 
Leasehold computer equipment                                                                                                                      6,335              44,082 

 
A register containing the information required by the Public  Finance Management Act is available for inspection at the 
registered office of the entity. 

 
4.      Intangible assets * 

 
2018                                                                   2017

Cost / Accumulated Carrying value        Cost / Accumulated Carrying value
Valuation amortisation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment 

Valuation amortisation 
and 

accumulated 
impairment

Computer software                                    76,118             (50,823)             25,295              60,354             (36,670)             23,684 
Wonderwerk cave servitude                        9,360                        -                9,360                9,360                        -                9,360 
Total                                                          85,478             (50,823)             34,655              69,714             (36,670)             33,044
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4.      Intangible assets * (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of intangible assets * - 2018 

Opening 
balance 

Additions      Amortisation          Total

Computer software                                                                                      23,684              15,764             (14,153)             25,295 
Wonderwerk cave servitude                                                                          9,360                        -                        -                9,360 

33,044              15,764             (14,153)             34,655 
 

Reconciliation of intangible assets * - 2017 
Opening 
balance 

Additions  Internally 
generated 

Amortisation          Total

Computer software                                                             27,625                2,239                        -               (6,180)             23,684 
Wonderwerk Cave                                                              21,840                        -             (12,480)                       -                9,360 

49,465                2,239             (12,480)              (6,180)             33,044 
 

5.      Heritage assets 
 

2018                                                                   2017
Cost / Accumulated Carrying value        Cost / Accumulated Carrying value

 
 
 

Heritage assets which fair 
values cannot be reliably 
measured 

Valuation impairment 
losses 

Valuation impairment 
losses

Movable heritage assets                                    1                        -                       1                       1                        -                       1 
Land and buildings                                             1                        -                       1                       1                        -                       1 
Total                                                                   2                        -                       2                       2                        -                       2 

 
Reconciliation of heritage assets 2018 

 
 

Heritage assets which fair values cannot be reliably measured 

Opening 
balance 

Total

Movable heritage assets                                                                                                                                         1                       1 
Land and buildings                                                                                                                                                  1                       1 

2                       2 
 

Reconciliation of heritage assets 2017 
 
 

Heritage assets which fair values cannot be reliably measured 

Opening 
balance 

Total

Movable heritage assets                                                                                                                                         1                       1 
Land and buildings                                                                                                                                                  1                       1 

2                       2
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5.      Heritage assets (continued) 

Movable heritage assets 

Museum Department                                    31 March 2016    Additions 2017  31 March 2017  Additions 2018  31 March 2018 
 
Archaeology 

 
3 471 

 
9 
 

3 480 
 

11 
 

3 491 
 

Botany 
 

35 458 
 

114 
 

35 572 
 

160 
 

35 732 
 

History 
 

20 880 
 

5 
 

20 885 
 

1 
 

20 886 
 

Photographic 
 

24 823 
 

287 
 

25 110 
 

423 
 

25 533 
 

Material culture Western 
 

11 532 
 

121 
 

11 653 
 

270 
 

11 923 
 

Material Culture African 
 

3 697 
 

0 
 

3 697 
 

0 
 

3 697 
 

Military artefacts 
 

2 309 
 

1 
 

2 310 
 

0 
 

2 310 
 

Zoology - Archaeology 
 

1 225 
 

0 
 

1 225 
 

0 
 

1 225 
 

Zoology - Herpetology 
 

521 
 

0 
 

521 
 

0 
 

521 
 

Zoology - Mammology 
 

6 763 
 

0 
 

6 763 
 

0 
 

6 763 
 

Zoology - Ornithology 
 

2 288 
 

0 
 

2 288 
 

0 
 

2 288 
 

Library - Africana materials 
 

5 806 
 

18 
 

5 824 
 

0 
 

5 824 
 

Mary Moffat Museum 
 

400 
 

0 
 

400 
 

1 
 

401 
 

Kalahari Oranje Furniture 
 

83 
 

0 
 

83 
 

0 
 

83 
 

Kalahari Oranje Kitchen 
 

215 
 

0 
 

215 
 

0 
 

215 
 

Kalahari Oranje Textiles 
 

312 
 

0 
 

312 
 

0 
 

312 
 

Kalahari Oranje Natural history 40 
 

0 
 

40 
 

0 
 

40 
 

Kalahari Oranje Photos 805 
 

0 
 

805 
 

0 
 

805 
 

Kalahari Oranje Documents 1 416 
 

0 
 

1 416 
 

0 
 

1 416 
 

Kalahari Oranje Cultural history 616 
 

6 
 

622 
 

1 
 

623 
 

Calvinia Museum 
 

1 763 
 

0 
 

1 763 
 

0 
 

1 763 
 

Unencumbered ownership: 
Sanatoruim                                                  2-12 Edgerton Road, Kimberley                                               Erf: 01/00000/000 
Dunluce                                                       10 Lodge Road, Kimberley                                                       Erf: 01/00000/484 
Rudd House                                                 5 Loch Road, Kimberley                                                           Erf: 01/00000/507 
Duggan Cronin Gallery                                2 -12 Edgerton Road, Kimberley                                              Erf: 01/00000/000 
Magersfontein Battlefield Museum 
Mary Moffat museum                                   Hoofweg, Griekwastad                                                             Erf: 02/0001/973 
Occupational (custodianship): 
Alexander Mc Gregor Museum                    18 Chapel Street, Kimberley                                                    Erf: 01/100010/340 
Pioneers of Aviation                                     Alexanderfontein way, Kimberley                                             Erf: 01/00000/000
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6.      Prepayments 

 
Security services                                                                                                                                              -                1,313 
Subscriptions                                                                                                                                             5,602                        - 

                                                                                                                                                              5,602                1,313 
 

7.      Receivables from exchange transactions * 
 

Trade debtors                                                                                                                                        106,831              80,023 
Deposits                                                                                                                                                    3,250                3,200 
Provision for impairment - Trade debtors                                                                                               (35,761)            (35,761) 

                                                                                                                                                                   74,320              47,462 
 
 
 

Analysis of Trade and other receivables due 
 

The ageing of amounts past due is as follows: 
 

0 - 30 Days                                                                                                                                              67,069              43,932 
120 Days +                                                                                                                                              39,762              36,091 

 
Trade and other receivables impaired 

 
As of 31 March, 2018, trade and other receivables of -R35 761.00 - (2017: R 35 761.00-) were impaired and provided for. 

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

Rand                                                                                                                                                        47,286              47,462 
 

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables 
 

Opening balance                                                                                                                                     35,761              23,366 
Provision for impairment                                                                                                                                   -              12,395 

                                                                                                                                                             35,761              35,761 
 

8.      Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 
 

Cash on hand                                                                                                                                            34,375              40,993 
Bank balances                                                                                                                                         688,913            238,400 
Short-term deposits                                                                                                                              3,249,370         2,955,317 

                                                                                                                                                           3,972,658         3,234,710 
 

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand 
 

The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired can 
be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical information about counterpart default rates: 

 
Credit rating 
AAA                                                                                                                                                    3,938,283         3,193,717
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9.      Finance lease obligation 

 
Minimum lease payments due 
- within one year                                                                                                                                           10,164              46,498 
- in second to fifth year inclusive                                                                                                                            -              11,624 

10,164              58,122 
less: future finance charges                                                                                                                                    -               (3,164) 
Present value of minimum lease payments                                                                                              10,164              54,958 

 
Non-current liabilities                                                                                                                                               -              11,462 
Current liabilities                                                                                                                                            10,164              43,496 

10,164              54,958 
 

It is entity policy to lease certain computer related equipment under finance leases. 
 

The average lease term was 5 years and the average effective borrowing rate was 9% (2017: 9%). 
 

The entity's obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor's charge over the leased assets.. 
 
 
 
 

10.    Taxes and transfers payable (non-exchange) 
 

National lottery development trust fund (Nooitgedacht Rock art project) 2017 
Opening 

Balance 2016 
Utilised 

during the 
year 

Total 2017

Nooitgedacht grant                                                                                                               42,280             (42,280)                       - 
 
 
 

11.    Payables from exchange transactions 
 

Trade payables                                                                                                                                              34,403              93,584 
Payments received in advanced - contract in process                                                                                            -                1,850 
Employee cost: Bonus accrual                                                                                                                           873                   812 
Deposits received                                                                                                                                                    -                2,550 

35,276              98,796 
 

The carrying amount of payables from exchange transactions are denominated in the following currencies: 
 

Rand                                                                                                                                                              35,276              98,796 
 

Analyses of Trade and other payables. 

The ageing of amounts due is as follows: 

0 -30 days                        R 35 276 
 

12.    Other revenue 
 

Discount received                                                                                                                                                   -                   613 
Insurance claims received                                                                                                                             36,893              41,845 
Recoveries                                                                                                                                                   161,636              35,052 

198,529              77,510
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13.    Management fees for services rendered (Employee cost paid by DSAC) 

 
Management fees for services rendered (Employee cost paid by DSAC)                                             14,261,452       12,200,506 

 
14.    Government grants and subsidies 

 
Operating grants 
DSAC                                                                                                                                                       3,296,000         2,951,000 
Sponsorship - Kgosi Toto Project                                                                                                                           -              53,930 
White Back Vulture                                                                                                                                       36,456                   564 
Black Footed Cat                                                                                                                                          50,002              61,582 

                                                                                                                                                                   3,382,458         3,067,076 
 

Unspent conditional Grant - Rosa Luxemburg Oral History project 
 

Balance unspent at beginning of year                                                                                                           13,250              13,250 
13,250              13,250 

 
This grant (R35 000) was received from the Rosa Luxemburg Foundation in August 2012. Funds are to be used to educate 
schools on history by making oral presentations and telling stories. The remaining balance will still be utilised for this 
purpose. There was no movement in the 2017/2018 financial year. 

 
Unspent conditional Grant - White Back Vulture 

 
Balance unspent at beginning of year                                                                                                        100,371                        - 
Current-year receipts                                                                                                                                  101,681             100,875 
Conditions met - transferred to revenue                                                                                                      (36,456)                 (504) 

                                                                                                                                                                      165,596            100,371 
 

Unspent conditional Grant - Black Footed Cat 
 

Balance unspent at beginning of year                                                                                                         130,347              55,570 
Current-year receipts                                                                                                                                   129,700            136,359 
Conditions met - transferred to revenue                                                                                                       (50,002)            (61,582) 

                                                                                                                                                                       210,045            130,347 
 

15.    Public contributions and donations 
 

Public contributions and donations                                                                                                               13,145              35,533 
 

Conditions still to be met - remain liabilities (see note ) 
 

16.    Employee related costs 
 

Basic                                                                                                                                                            180,948            144,386 
Board member sitting allowance                                                                                                                    14,000                        - 

194,948            144,386 
 

17.    Management fees for services rendered (Employee cost paid by DSAC) 
 

Management fees for services rendered (Employee cost paid by DSAC)                                           (14,261,452)     (12,200,507)
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17.    Management fees for services rendered (Employee cost paid by DSAC) (continued) 

 
 
 

Management fee personnel 
 

Surname and Initials Basic             Housing      Medical      Pension        Bonus           Total 2018                   2017 
Head of History 331 497 10 800 0 43 094 53 535 438 926 412 049 
Chief Financial Officer 438 779 0 0 39 249 25 159 503 187 161 773 
Head of Education 441 529 10 800 12 168 57 398 41 214 563 110 518 593 
Head of Display 
Section 

239 632 15 084 12 168 31 152 30 789 328 826 295 131 

Accountant Finance 281 418 0 23 712 36 584 36 607 378 322 222 275 
Principal Oral Historical 331 497 15 084 12 168 43 094 53 184 455 027 420 392 
Head of Arceaology 444 286 10 800 12 168 57 757 39 080 564 091 432 831 
Chief Executive Officer 575 385 15 084 26 340 62 342 67 348 746 500 730 315 
Ass Manager - Assets 334 545 15 084 0 43 490 28 375 421 494 292 334 
Collection Manager 226 611 15 084 12 168 29 459 30 974 314 296 289 309 
Head of Zoology 526 563 0 8 040 57 188 36 659 628 451 596 304 
Other 6 264323 340 276 731025 793 793 789 801 8 919 218 7 829 200 

Total 
 

  10 436 066 
 

448 096 
 

 849 957 1 294 603 
 

1 232 729 
 

14 261 452 
 

12 200 507 
 

 
18.    Finance costs 

 
Finance leases                                                                                                                                                2,953                7,810 

 
Capitalisation rates used during the period were 9% on specific borrowings for capital projects and -% being the weighted 
average cost of funds borrowed generally by the entity. 

 
Total interest expense, calculated using the effective interest rate, on financial instruments not at fair value through surplus or 
deficit amounted to R2 953.00 - (2017: R 7,810). 

 
19.    Impairment loss 

 
Debt impairment                                                                                                                                                      -              12,395
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20.    General expenses 

 
21.    Cash generated from operations 
 

Surplus                                                                                                                                                             342,188           87,297 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation                                                                                                                         661,334           27,674 
Gain on sale of assets and liabilities                                                                                                                  23,130          12,480 
Finance costs - Finance leases                                                                                                                           2,953             7,810 
Debt impairment                                                                                                                                                         -            12,395 
Taxes and Transfers payable                                                                                                                                     -          (42,280) 
Changes in working capital: 
Receivables from exchange transactions *                                                                                                      (26,858)          82,962 
Consumer debtors                                                                                                                                                      -          (12,395) 
Prepayments                                                                                                                                                      (4,290)               687 
Payables from exchange transactions                                                                                                             (63,520)       (204,927) 
Unspent conditional grants and receipts                                                                                                         144,923          230,718 

1,079,860          802,421 
22.    Financial instruments disclosure 
         Categories of financial instruments 
         2018 
 
         Financial assets

  Advertising  9,923                   6,722 
  Auditors remuneration 758,672                584,787 

Bank charges  24,519                 33,823 
Cleaning 63,039               54,957 
Computer expenses 112,064                   248 
Consulting and professional fees     294,497             378,519 
Consumable Materials   80,997               22,480 
Entertainment     10,583               18,421 
Insurance     266,062             272,848 
Conferences and seminars     18,536                 5,500 
Fuel and oil    123,477             112,365 
Postage and courier      1,059                 8,009 
Printing and stationery      128,941             112,760 
Security    92,232             125,792 
Subscriptions and membership fees   9,781            9,110 
Telephone and fax  42,396               66,577 
Travel - local   113,222               83,079 
Travel - overseas  24,696                 3,470 
Electricity 502,331             582,694 
Sewerage and waste disposal 43,092               37,966 
Water 96,047             110,625 
Refuse   25,992               22,710 
Interest on overdue account -                    282 
Uniforms          23,563           27,158 
Licence fees - Computers                 -              2,732 
Stocks and material           -                 8,924 
Licence fees - Vehicles               -                 2,924 
Rental of buildings           6,840              6,840 
Staff presentations               -               3,039 
 2,872,561       2,705,361 
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22.    Financial instruments disclosure (continued)  
At amortised 

cost 

 
Total

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions                                                                            74,320              74,320 
Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                                      3,972,658         3,972,658 

4,046,978         4,046,978 
 

Financial liabilities 
At amortised 

cost 
Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions                                                                                35,276              35,276 
Unspent conditional grants and receipts                                                                                                     388,891             388,891 
Finance lease obligation                                                                                                                               10,164               10,164 

434,331            434,331 
 

2017 
 

Financial assets 
At fair value    At amortised 

cost 
Total

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions                                                             -              47,462              47,462 
Cash and Cash equivalents                                                                                                           -         3,234,710         3,234,710 

-         3,282,172         3,282,172 
 

Financial liabilities 
At fair value    At amortised 

cost 
Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions                                                                 -              98,796               98,796 
Unpsent conditional grants and reciepts                                                                                        -            243,968             243,968 
Finance lease obligation                                                                                                                -              54,958               54,958 

-             397,722             397,722 
 

23.    Commitments 
 

Authorised operational expenditure 
 

Already contracted for but not provided for 
        Consulting fees                                                                                                                                   403,931               277,121 
        IT Service providers                                                                                                                              60,834                50,640 
        Assets                                                                                                                                                 560,903                         - 
        Car Track                                                                                                                                              11,997                         - 

1,037,665               327,761 
  

Total operational commitments 
Already contracted for but not provided for                                                                                              1,037,665            327,761 

 
This committed expenditure relates to Consulting fees, It services, assets and car track and will be financed by available bank 
facilities, retained surpluses,  mortgage facilities, existing cash resources, funds internally generated, etc.
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24.    Contingencies 
Minister of Mineral Resources, Jacky Mary Wesi, Jacky M Wesi Mining (Pty) Ltd, Lucas Daniel Sonnenberg, and the Dikgatlong 
Local Municipality. 
 
Legal Review of the decision made by the Dept of Mineral Resources to grant a mining permit over a declared heritage site. 
Norton Rose Fulbright attorneys acts on behalf of McGregor museum on a pro bono basis. The disbursements incurred to 
date are R214 390.67 the museum has paid R152 539.54 to date. Should the application be unsuccessful the museum could 
be subject to an adverse cost order. It is estimated that an additional R100 000 could be incurred in respect of 
disbursements or legal costs for full resolution of the matter 

 
25.    Related parties 

 
`  

Relationships 
Board Members                                                                                            Refer to members' report note 
Department with significant influence                                                           MEC of the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts 

and Culture 
 
 

Related party transactions 
 

Department of Sport, Arts and culture - Parent Department 
Transfers received for operations of the museum                                                                                  (3,296,000)       (2,951,000) 
Management fee for services rendered (Employee cost paid by DSAC)                                             (14,261,452)     (12,200,506) 
Sponsorships for projects                                                                                                                                        -             (53,950) 
Board members sitting allowance                                                                                                                 14,000                        - 

 

 
 
 

Key management of the entity is not being remunerated by the museum, they have been appointed by the Northern Cape 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. The key management totals in note 17.
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26.    Prior period errors 

 
 

The correction of the error(s) results in adjustments as follows: 
 

Statement of financial position 
Recievables 
Previously                                                                                                                                                               -             43,462 
Now                                                                                                                                                                        -             47,462 
Restatement (Debtor processed that was not accounted for in the prior year)                                                      -               4,000 

 
Property, plant and equipment (Opening balances) 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                               -        2,951,754 
Now                                                                                                                                                                         -        3,737,996 
Restatement (Prior year assets brought in)                                                                                                            -           786,242 

 
Intangible assets (Opening balances) 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                               -             22,125 
Now                                                                                                                                                                        -             33,044 
Restatement (Prior year assets brought in)                                                                                                           -             10,919 

 
Accumulated surplus 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                               -      (6,086,357) 
Now                                                                                                                                                                        -      (6,656,804) 
Restated                                                                                                                                                                 -         (570,447) 

 
Unspent conditional grants and receipts 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                               -           (13,250) 
Now                                                                                                                                                                         -         (243,968) 
Restated (Black Footed Cat and White Back Vulture)                                                                                            -         (230,718)
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26.    Prior period errors (continued) 

 
Statement of financial performance 
Sale of goods 
Previously                                                                                                                                                               -          (597,478) 
Now                                                                                                                                                                         -         (601,478) 
Restatement (Debtor processed that was not accounted for in the prior year)                                                       -             (4,000) 

 
Depreciation 
Previously stated                                                                                                                                                     -           542,605 
Now                                                                                                                                                                         -           621,713 
Restated (Prior year assets depreciation accounted for)                                                                                        -             79,108 

 
Amortisation 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                                -               6,401 
Now                                                                                                                                                                         -               6,181 
Restatement (Prior year assets depreciation accounted for)                                                                                   -                (220) 

 
Services in kind 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                                 -    (12,239,798) 
Now                                                                                                                                                                          -    (12,200,506) 
Restatement (Prior year services in kind overstated)                                                                                              -             39,292 

 
Management fees - services in kind 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                                 -     12,239,798 
Now                                                                                                                                                                          -      12,200,506 
Restatement (Prior year services in kind overstated)                                                                                              -           (39,292) 

 
Public contributions and donations 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                                -         (271,785) 
Now                                                                                                                                                                          -           (97,619) 
Restatement ( Black footed cat and White back vulture grants expenses recognised)                                           -           174,166 

 
Irregular expenditure 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                                -        1,130,236 
Now                                                                                                                                                                          -           677,660 
Restatement (adjustments made to irregular expenses)                                                                                         -           452,576 
General Expenses 
Previously disclosed                                                                                                                                                 -       2,703,768 
Now                                                                                                                                                                          -        2,705,631 
Restatement (adjustments made to general expense)                                                                                           -                1,593 

 
27.    Risk management 

 
Financial risk management 

 
The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, 
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 
 

Liquidity risk 
 

The entity’s risk to liquidity is as a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review for future commitments.
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27.    Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk 

 
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major 
banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party. 

 
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an 
ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk 
control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of 
credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers are settled in cash or using major credit cards. Credit guarantee 
insurance is purchased when deemed appropriate. 

 
Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows: 

 
`  

Financial instrument                                                                                                                               2018                 2017 
Trade receivables                                                                                                                                    74,320                  47,462 
Cash and Cash equivalents                                                                                                                3,972,658             3,234,710 

 
 

Market risk 
 

Interest rate risk 
 

As the entity has no significant interest-bearing assets, the entity’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates. 

 
 

Cash flow interest rate risk 
`  

Financial instrument                        Current 
interest rate 

Due in less 
than a year 

Due in one to 
two years 

Due in two to 
three years 

Due in three 
to four years 

Due after five 
years

Trade and other receivables - 
normal credit terms 
Cash in current banking 
institutions 
Trade and other payables - 
extended credit terms 
Finance lease liabilities 

- % 
 

- % 
 

- % 
 
9.00 % 

74,320                        -                        -                        -                        - 
 
3,972,658                        -                        -                        -                        - 
 

35,276                        -                        -                        -                        - 
 

10,164                        -                        -                        -                        -
 

28.    Going concern 
 

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March, 2018, the entity had accumulated surplus of R 6,998,992 and that the entity's 
total assets exceed its liabilities by R 6,998,992. 

 
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realization of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

 
The entity is wholly dependent on the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture for continued funding of 
operations. The financial statements are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern and the Northern Cape 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the 
entity. 

 
29.    Events after the reporting date 

 
No Significant events occurred after the reporting date that would require additional disclosure and or adjustments of the 
financial statements.
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30.    Services in kind 
Services in kind Northern Cape Provincial Treasury - Internal Audit services 
McGregor museum utilised the shared service from provincial internal audit unit. The 
services received in kind is not material to the operations of the entity and therefore not 
disclosed. 

 
(152,390)          (149,796)

 
31.    Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

 
Opening balance                                                                                                                                              2,941                   976 
Prior year identified in the current year                                                                                                                   -                    182 
Current year                                                                                                                                                          21                1,783 

2,962                2,941 
 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred above consist of interest charged on overdue accounts. 
 

32.    Irregular expenditure 
 

Opening balance                                                                                                                                               677,660       909,495 
Add: Irregular Expenditure - current year - prior year error                                                                                     -              81,944 
Prior year identified in current year - prior year error                                                                                              -             155,029 
Less: SBD document not complete  -prior year error                                                                                                          (114,263) 
Less: payments below R2 000,00 - prior year error                                                                                                -             (30,414) 
 Less: Payments between R2 001 - R10 000 - prior year error                                                             -                             (263,495) 
Less: Duplicate to be removed - prior year error                                                                                                     -             (60,636) 

677,660              677,660 
The amount displayed consists of the following amounts: 
SCM policy not adhered to                                                                                                                            35 319         35 319 
Three quotations not obtained                                                                                                                     631 122       631 122 
Lowest quotation not accepted                                                                                                                      11 218         11 218 
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McGREGOR MUSEUM STAFF April 2017-March 2018 

ADMINISTRATION 
Chief Executive Officer 
Chief Financial Officer 
Assistant Manager 
Senior State Accountant 
Administration 
Procurement 
Driver/Messenger 
Reception 
Transport 

Sunet Swanepoel (appointed 1 September 2017) 
ZahidCader 
Thabo Tsotetsi 
Tracy Maarman 
Felicity Msuthu 
Faren Mogatle (Intern) 
Darrol Peters 
Ida Maphumulo 
Vacant 

MUSEUM CARETAKERS/ASSISTANTS 
Magersfontein 

Sanatorium 
Chapel street 
Aviation 
Cashier 
Duggan-Cronin Gallery 
DunluceHouse 
Rudd House 
Wildebeest Kuil 
Wonderwerk Cave 
Cleaners 

Esau Richards; Yu-Dean Vaarland; Eveline van Schalkwyk, 
Chrissie van Schalkwyk•; Des Richards* 
Bafana Ndebele 
Museum closed - open on request 
Museum closed - open on request 
Frank Higgo* 
Museum closed - open on request 
Museum closed - open on request 
Museum closed - open on request 
Petrus Wtlson, Amos Makau 
Johnny Esau; Iris Khabae 
Elizabeth Moshounyane; Jennifer Buffel; Charlene Coetzee 

EPWP Cleaners Wilhemina Mangope; Jenny Kammi.es; Ellise Booysen; Portia Gema, Susan John 

NATURAL & HUMAN SCIENCES - Research & Curatorial 
Archaeology David Morris PhD 
Botany Vacant 
History Vida Allen B Bibi; MA 
Conflict Vacant 
Living History Sephai Mngqolo Museum Heritage Dip 
Social Anthropology Vacant 
Zoology Beryl Wilson ND; B Tech; BA (Hons) 

Collection Management 
Archaeology Vmcent Dinku; Jane Bosch; Chantel Wilson; Melony Jafta; Koot Msawula. 

Abenicia Henderson 
Botany 
Cultural History 
Conservator 
Taxidermy 
Photographs 
African Material Cultt:ae 
Zoology 

LIBRARY 
Registry 

EDUCATION 
Education Officer 

DESIGN & DISPLAY 
Artists 

GARDENS 
Supervisor 
Gardeners 

WORKSHOP 
Supervisor 
Artisan Pamter 
Foreman 
Tradesman Aid 

Annemarie van Heerden ND Nat Cons 
Dominique McAnda; Jenny Gibbs; Lenah Maile (retlred November 2017) 
Yvonne Kok 
Jack Oliphant 
Robert Hart BA (Hons) 
Vacant 
Heidi Folscher (appointed 1 October 2017) 

Vacant 
Beryl Camroodien 

Suzanne Erasmus BSc (Hons) STD 

Marie Lodewyk; Portia Genge; Kgomotso Setshogela 

Vacant 
Gert van Schalkwyk; Andries Mathebula; Moses van Schalkwyk; Cecil Mbanga 
Jurie Blom (Deceased 31 Marc.h 2018) 

Vacant 
Joseph Ditlhobolo 
ThysMoncho 
Abel van Schalkwyk 

*BOARD EMPLOYEES 
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ASSET MANAGEMENT, TRANSPORT 
& MAINTENANCE 

TifABO TSOTETSI, Assistimt Manager, Asset Management, ttsotef3i@mwieumsnc.co.za 
Gardens: GERT VAN SCHALKWYK. ANDRIES MATHEBULA, MOSES VAN SCHALKWYK, CECILMBANGA 

1URIE BWM, (Deceased) 
Clean.en: ELIZABETH MOSHOUNYANE, JENNIFER BUFFEL, CHARLENE COBTZEE 

EPWP: JENNY KAMMIES, ELLISE BOOYSEN, PORTIA GEMA, SUSAN JOHN, WILHEMINA MANGOPE 
Wor.bhop: THYS MONCHO, Foreman. ABEL van SCHALKWYK. Toufesman'sAid. JOSEPH DITLHOBOLO, Artisan 

ASSET MANAGEMENT 

The museum assets management section is responS1ble for 
among other things procurement, management, maintenance 
and disposal of assets. The section is understaffed and consists 
of only one official. Despite this challenge the section performed 
very well in ensuring the assets of the museum were Dl81laged 
and maintained throughout the year, and that all assets at 
variollll museum sites were verified to ensure the existence and 
completeness of the movable asset register. 

GARDENS 

The museum's gardens/grounds represent the image of the 
museum because they are the first contact point that visitors 
and other stakeholders have with the museum. hence good 
maintenance thereof is of utmost importance. 

The museum has a total of six gardens which combined can 
be measured to be approximately up to 58 000 m2 (5.8 ha) 
which need constant maintenance throughout the year. The 
groundsman team is responS1ble for mowing of the lawns and 
raking afterwards, cutting of hedges, watering of flower beds 
regularly, pruning of trees, removal of weeds, spraying of 
herbicides, maintaining the irrigation system and cleaning of the 
parking areas and all surrounding areas. 

The team worked very hard throughout the year to ensure that 
all these gardens were well maintained despite the lack of rain 
tha1 was experienced by the province throughout the year. The 
team's performance is also very commendable considering the 
size of the gardens which needed maintenance, due to the fact 
that the garden team is understaffed and consists of only five 
groundsmen. 

The garden team also contributed towards the success of 
exhibitions and functions held at the museum by assisting in 
setting up the exhibition and function venues, and they also 
contnbuted by ensuring that the grounds of these venues were 
well kept and clean for exhibition purposes. 

The year ended on a sad note for the team due to the untimely 
passing of, Mr Jurie Blom after a short illness. It will definitely 
put more strain on the team going forward. He will be missed by 
all at the museum. 

CLEANING STAFF 

Similar to the gardens/grounds the cleanliness of the museum 
premises ( display areas, offices and all surrounding locations 
including satellite museums) also influences how the public 
views and experience the museum. The museum cleaning team 
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Drlver/Messanger: DARROL PETERS 

is made up of three permanent staff members and five EPWP 
staff members and this team is respoDS1ble for among other 
things mopping of floors, polishing of floors, vacuuming of 
carpets, washing and ironing of materials, dusting of furniture 
and polishing thereof. 

The museum cleaners have also made a significant contribution 
to the success of all exhibitions and events held at the museum 
by keeping all venues of the museum clean and tidy at aU times. 
Due to the efforts of the cleaning staff the first impression visitors 
to the museum received was very good 

TRANSPORT 

The automobile fleet of the museum is one of the most important 
assets because it enables the museum officials to be mobile and 
affords them an opportunity to effectively and efficiently execute 
their duties. Through the museum fleet, researchers can travel 
through the province to do their research, garden rubbish can be 
disposed of, correspondence can be delivered and collected from 
various stakeholders and various parcels can be delivered. 

The museum transport section is under-staffed and has been 
without a transport officer since May 2016 which has remained 
a challenge for the section. However the driver/messenger has 
taken on most of the duties of the transport officer and due to his 
efforts the transport section has performed effectively throughout 
the year. 

WORKSHOP 

The museum has a staff complement of three officials working 
at the workshop and they have the responsibility of ensuring the 
up keep of the main museum (Sanatorium) and other satellite 
museums. This is a very challenging task as most of the museum 
buildings are at least SO years and older. Despite challenges. the 
workshop team performed very well ensuring tha1 the museum 
buildings were maintained, and doing repairs as necessary. 

Furthermore the team also contnbuted towards the success of 
all exhibitions and functions held at the museum. and they also 
contn'buted to the maintenance of collections. 

In conclllllion I would like to commend and express my sincere 
appreciation for the dedication, commitment and hard work 
displayed by the garden team, cleaning team, workshop as 
well the transport section in ensuring that the museum and its 
assets were well maintained throughout the year. It is through 
their efforts and skills that the museum remains one of the most 
attractive places to visit in Kimberley and in the Northern Cape. 



BOTANY 
BOTANIST - Post Vacant 
ANNEMARIE van HEERDEN, Herba.rium Collection Manager - kmgbot@museumsnc.co.u 

A TIMELESS PRACTICE! 

Luca Ghini (1490-1556), a Professor of Botany at the University 
of Bologna Italy, is thought to be the first person to dry plants 
under pressure and mount them on paper to serve as a lasting 
record. 

Luca Ghini Specimens today are still mounted 
on single sheets 

The herbarium technique was a well-known botanical practice at 
the time of Carl Linnaeus ( 1707 -1778) the Father of Taxonomy 
as he is often called. He departed from the convention of the 
day (mounting specimens and binding them into volumes) 
by mounting his specimens on single sheets and storing them 
horizontally much as is the practice today. 

Modern herbaria today bring centuries-old science into the 
digital age by capturing data and images and storing them in 
digital form. Toe digitization process allows for our collections 
to be queried and analyzed in ways not previously possible. 

DATA CAPTURE 

During the past year I continued with adding the collection data, 
of the UDDamed specimens in the collection, to the BRAHMS 

One of the highlights this year was the arrival of 4 new Herbarium 
cupboards courtesy of National Museum in Bloemfontein as 
part of the National Research Foundation (NRF) funding for the 
smaller Natural History Collections. The additional cupboard 
space reduces the risk of damage to the KMG Herbarium 
specimens. Specimens are fragile and brittle and can easily be 
damaged if they are packed too tightly onto one shelf. Thank you 
very much Heidi Folscher for your assistance with rearranging 
the collection and filling the new cupboards. 

New KMG Herbarium cupboards 
Toe KMG Herbarium was privileged to be invited to assist with 
fieldwork in May 2017 for a vegetation monitoring programme 
on Tswalu Kalahari Reserve. The monitoring programme aims to 
document vegetation cover, structure, diversity and dominance 
through a fixed point photographic record and via transect based 
sampling. 

(Botanical Research and Herbarium Management System) ,-----,--,!!;:::ii=.-:--- 
database. Toe data of 1486 existing specimens and 160 new 
specimens were captured from April 2017-March 2018. 

Data editing of specimen data that were transferred from the ~""':'-~P.~---=--
PRECIS to the BRAHMS database continued throughout the 
year. A total of 1305 data corrections were made this year. 

COLLECTION MANAGEMENT 

The physical verification of specimen numbers and their 
condition were completed for the following plant families: 
Fabaceae and Aizoaceae (Mesembryanthemaceae). A total of 
1301 specimens were verified during the past year. 

Processing and specialized preparation of new specimens 
for the botanical collection: 181 specimens were mounted 
and incorporated into the herbarium. The KMG Herbarium 
received 91 gift specimens from the National Herbarium (Gift 
17003). The absence of a Botanist and the continued :financial 
constraints contributed to the slowing growth of the number of 
new specimens added to the collection. 

Vegetation monitoring Learning from the best - fieldwork with Dr J. 
'.ftwalu Kalahari Manning 

Reserve 

OUTREACH AND ASSISTANCE TO CLIENTS 

AB part of our information and identification services 17 queries 
and plant identifications were done for researchers, veterinary 
services, various government departments, farmers and members 
of the public. 
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Educational talks included the yearly botanical talk on the 
common plants of the Northern Cape given to a group of 
Voortrekkers on their annual camp at Barkly West. And a 
presentation on the the Invasive Alien Cacti of the Northern 
Cape at the public meeting of the Friends of the McGregor 
Museum in September 2017. 

The Botany department was also privileged to form part of the 
workshop presented by the McGregor Museum to the officials 
from the Namakwa museums in October 2017. 
Once again I would like to say a big thank you to everyone who 
assisted the Botany department in so many ways during the past 
year. 

Friends of the McGregor Museum - Invasive Alien Cacti Presentation 

Workshop presented by McGregor Museum to officials from Namakwa museums 
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DESIGN & DISPLAY 
MAR1E LDDEWYK, Senior Artist - marie@museumsnc.co.z.a 
KELEBDGILE PORTIA GENGE, Artist - porti1:1@mUBeumsnc.co.za 
KGOMOTSD SETSHDGELA, Artist - kgomotso@museumsnc.co.u 

The following temporary exhibitions were produced :in the last Ancestor'.$ Gallery, sigrlage for the (water pump station) pipe 
financial year: 70th Anniversary of Royal Visit of 1947 at the at front entrance of Atlas Street museum, entrance times and 
Duggan-Cronin Gallery with an opening on 18 April 2017, was fees -signs were done by Marie. Kgomotso did the upgrade and 
done by Portia; 120th Commemoration of the Langeberg War repair on the Wildebeest Kuil road sign as well as corrections to 
travelling exhibition with an opening event on 3 August 2017, a poster at the Pioneers of Aviation site. Yvonne assisted with 
was done by Kgomotso; Medical Equipment exhibition with work during the installation of the 120th Commemoration of the 
opening on 6 October 2017 at Duggan-Cronin Gallery, ~ done Langeberg War exhibition, as well as re-installation of the shop 
by Sandra Foriers; Oliver Tambo exhibition at the Atlas Street case at the front entrance at Atlas Street Museum. 
Museum with the opening on 17 October 2017, done by Portia. 
She is currently assisting the North.em Cape Legislature with the 
design of a 20 Years of the Constitution exlnbition. 

Design of publications produced included Museum Annual 
Report 2016-17 designed. printed and bound by Portia; Night 
at the Museum invitation, poster, tickets, and stickers for soup 
mugs designed by Portia; invitation for the Women~ Month 
Lecture on 30 August 2017 by Portia; Royal Visit - and Oliver 
Tambo Exhibition :V invitations done by Portia. 

Kgomotso designed, printed and bound the Commemoration 
of the Langeberg War booklet and designed the invitation for 
the exlnlrition; he also designed, printed and bound the 65th 
Anniversary of Mayibuye Uprising booklet and produced Eggy 
Water designs. Marie designed a Meander Ad; Krav Maga poster 
for 16 Days for Activism on violence against women & children 
and a Northern Cape Artist Summit invitation for DSAC; 
advertisement for Nominations for McGregor Museum Board 
of 1hlstees. Portia designed the McGregor Museum Christmas 
canJ for 2017. 

Maintenance work was required on the Kimberley Regiment, 

McGregor Museum, Lady Oppenheimer Hall, 
Egerton Road 

Female government officials 

To teach women slmple techniques lo 
defend them1elves-

1galntt ponlble attacks 

Tbt11Mfrllaiaa8"'-dollrls!1t<ln 
(~1rilll1't.,.,...o1Sporr. 
lrr,ar,dulllnimiltgla llflM bhillition 

oprilg; 

o.~-~.,-.. ,-..,.11111/,M<I,,,.,, 
~.,~ 14.,(~. 

30 November 2017 
IS:00 

McCr<'gv, Mus~um. Atl<is Str.-,;-1 

a,v, ,. ,.u.i,, •••••• 
h h OU I J9 2 70J . ,. 

1.11, 11, . . ....... . ....... . 

Sandra Foriers, a Belgian :intern, assisted us from October 2017 
till March 2018. Sandra got the opportunity to do the Medical 
Equipment exlnbition, re-designed the McGregor Museum 
website and 2 booklets. 

All the Display Section staff members participated in the Night 
at the Museum event on 21 September 2017. Portia served on 
the planning committee for this event. Kgomotso is an active 
member of the Health and Safety Committee group from the 
museum and regularly meets with members at the department of 
Sport, Arts and Culture, Head Office. 

Lamination work. requested by the public, was done by Marie 
as well as editing and printing of 65 Basic Sign Language 
certificates for DSAC Language unit, and she also produced 
Magersfontein images for the public on request. 

The Display Section met all the required performance targets set 
for 2017-2018 period and also acknowledges the assistance and 
direction received from all the other museum departments and 
administration in order to achieve this. 

11• I I' I 1.] 'J ' 111--. ',I I , 
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EDUCATION 
SUZANNE ERASMUS, Education Officer- se@museumsnc.co.za 

EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMMES took the group on a tour of the Alexander McGregor Memorial 
Museum where matters related to smaller, local museums were 

A total of 5,911 people were taken on guided tours of the museum discussed. 
complexes by staff of the Education Department These numbers 
are higher than previous years. 

Ofinterestwere special tours forStPatrick's Pre Primary (August), 
for History learners of Kimberley Boys High School (August) 
and Adamantia High School (September) and a lesson on the 
SA/ Boer War for Kimberley Girl's High School (September). 
Queen's College Junior School visited MagersfoDtein, 
Wildebeest Kuil and the Sanatorium (September). We opened 
the museum specially to accommodate 3 groups of Rovos Rail 
travellers on Sundays in May, June and March. Three more 
Rovos Rail groups visited us in June, September and February. 
These tours were extremely successful; the visitors thoroughly 
enjoyed 1he museum and were very impressed by our displays. 

I am grateful to Bafana Ndebele and tourist guides, Pu1ane 
Setlhodi and Thelma Motokolo, for their hard work with school 
groups, as well as to Ida Maphumulo for all her assistance. 

I assisted Des Richards, part-time employee at Magersfontein, 
with her training as a tourist guide. I provided her with 
information on all important tourist sites in Kimberley and took 
her on guided tours of the museum satellites. 

Sandra Foriers, an intern from Belgium, was assigned to the 
Education Department for part of the period from November 
2017 to February 2018. She was given guided tours of our 
satellite museums and other museums and interesting buildings 
in the city, and worked in the museum reception. Her main 
task was to work out a guided tour and basic guide booklet of 
the Journey to Democracy display. The museum historians did 
important research into the history of the s1ruggle for political 
freedom, with specific reference to the relatively unknown 
heroes and heroines of the Northern Cape. The display is very 
interesting, but challenging to the visitor, and especially so to 
school groups. Ms Foriers summarized this tour in such a way 
as to link it to pupils' existing knowledge, and so to tum the tour 
into a useful educational experience. 

OUTREACH 

A number of C-Olllrn1mity groups were accommodated free of 
charge during this period, including the NC Drug Rehabilitation 
Centre (December & January), Agape Family Life Centre 
(March), Building a Future NPO (March), the Galeshewe 
Theatre Organisations (March), as well as the Kimberley 
Regiment (March). Several groups of Sol Plaatje University 
students used the museum for various activities and special tours 
during the yelll', including a group studying the Tree Trail (May) 
and an ecological study group in the Alex Hall gardens (March). 

DISPLAYS & PUBLICATIONS 

I wrote a piece for Sunet Swanepoel on the 110th year of the 
museum for the DSAC News of 1-5 May 2017 and a business 
profile of the museum for the Sol Plaatje Tourism Office and the 
SA Tourism Speed Marketing Workshop in August. I worked 
with Marie Lodewyk on a new advertisement for the McGregor 
Museum placed in the Kimberley Meander. 

I edited the 2017 Museum Annual report, as well as booklets on 
the Langeberg War andMayibuye Massacre for Sephai Mnqgolo. 

Time was spent with Sandra Foriers to redo the McGregor 
Museum website. This included writing the information for the 
Education page, providing photographs and editing the pages of 
other departments and the museum satellites. 

Information and invitations to various museum events were sent 
to schools and to 1he Education Department website. 

RESOURCE CENTRE 

Some time was spent during quiet periods to keep the Resource 
Centre up to date. I am frequently asked for tourism-related 
information, and for information for school projects. Information 
and pictures were put together for a number of Kimberley Jmrior, 
Herlear Primary and Newton Primary Grade 4 learners for a 
Social Sciences project on local museums and monuments. 

ADMINISTRATION 
I organized 4 evening talks for the Museum Friends during 
this year. Members of other organisations such as WESSA, I participated in a nmnber of museum administrative processes, 
Hmwrary Rangers and Historical Society were also invited. On including asset management. 
20 April Beryl Wilson spoke on 'Empty Skies: Vultures - a flight 
to extinction'. This event was attended by 34 people. On 14 Administration work in the Education Department revolves 
June Deon Joubert, the Parle Manager ofMokala National Parle largely around communication with schools. Museum 
spoke on 'Mokala: 10 years later', attended by 38 people. On information letters were provided as required. Faxes or e-mails 
6 September Annemarie van Heerden spoke on Invasive Cacti. were sent to schools and they were also phoned to confirm 
This meeting was attended by 22 people. The AGM of the bookings. I produced the required monthly, quarterly and annual 
Friends of the Museum was organized on 10 October, e.t which reports for my department. 
Robert Hart spoke on the 1947 Royal Vi.sit 

I am responsible for the supervision and co-ordination of the 
I participated as guide in the Night at the Museum event in front-of-house staff, Bafana Ndebele and Ida Maphumulo. This 
September. A Museum Basics course was given to 7 employees includes 1he administration of leave and extensive work on the 
of small museums in our Province in November. I gave a talk biannual work assessment process. I also draw up the roster for 
on Museum Education, Reception and related matters. I then week-end and relief duties of the part-time caretakers. 
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EducaJJ.on Ojficer, S Erasmus, took rqnsentlldves of small museums in oJlr prol'ince on a pitied toJlr of the 
Alexander McGregor Memorial Muuum on 22 Nrwember 2017 

A group of ladies of Building A Future NPO in Barldy West vislud the museum on 21 March ZOJB, to experience 
the historical buildings, monflmenlN and important educational strlldllres in Kimberley in order to create tnWlreness 

of their rights on H1111U111 Rights Day 
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HISTORY 
VIDAALLEN, Historian- vida@museums.co.z.a 

Research was undertaken for the 11(1stal.gic walkmg tours of the 
towns Sutherland. Fraserburg and Williston in collaboration 
with the Department of Tourism and Economic Affairs, local 
government as well as local guesthouses in these towns. A trip to 
the Karoo Hoogland was undertaken where meetings were held 
with stakeholders of the Karoo Hoogland Municipalities. 

Information and photos for the Alexander Bay walking trail were 
sourced by the Historian and the tour compiled. The Towism 
people in Alexander Bay are currently looking at it, and will 
arrange a community consultation meeting. 

The walking tour which the Historian worked on the previous 
year was published as Carna,wn Staproete/Carnarvon Walking 
Trail. 

Agreatdealoftimewasspentonresearchtoanswerthe27queries 
the archives received. These comprised many divergent topics 
ranging from genealogical queries to histories of communities 
in the Northern Cape. 

Many visitors and researchers ( 45) consulted the archival 
collection for their publications, land claims or documentary 
television programmes. 

Background research on Oliver R Tambo was done for the 
writing of the labels for a temporary display to commemorate 
the centenary of his birth. 

Text for a display on the Spanish Flu of 1918 was written for a 
temporary exln"bition at the Duggan-Cronin Gallery which is to 
be opened in October 2018 on the centenary ofBlack October. 
The Historian also assisted with sourcing photographs, editing 
and proofreading of a pamphlet concerning the 40 years' 
commemoration of the death of Robert Sobukwe. 

Other co-operative activities included serving on the :Education 
Trust of the Sol Plaatje Museum. The Historian spent time on the 
organisation and coordination of ticket sales, groups, actors and 
staff for the very successful 'Night at the Museum' held during 
Heritage month. 

The Historian attended a course onAn:mtecture styles: Georgian, 
Victorian, Edwardian. This was presented by Prof. Matilda 
Burden from the University of Stellenbosch, 21- 23 August, and 
an assignment of a comparison of two styles in the same period 
had to be submitted. 

Training was given on the Accessions Register and walking 
tours to Wilna James, curator of the museum in Alexander Bay, 
20 November. 

Sandra Foriers, a student from Belgium arrived on 21 August 
2017 for internship in the museum. She left on 2 March 2018. She 
worked in various departments of the museum, and the History 
Department also benefitted from her input and hard work. Soon 
after she arrived at the McGregor Museum we gave her the task 
of developing a temporary display on medical equipment and 
famous nurses in Kimberley. She also worked in several of the 
History Department's collections, i.e. Cultural History, where 

she learned how to handle and accession various textiles. In 
the Photographic Collection she worked with and accessioned 
coloured slides pertaining to the Zulu nation. She also produced 
a basic guide booklet for the Journey to Democracy display 
which is essential as an accompaniment to the display. 

Administrative duties of the History Department included the 
attending of many meetings, writing of reports, asset verification 
ofitems in the Library and office; Historian's office; 3 document 
storerooms and researcher's office. 

Reviewing of annual perfonnance plans and work plans, as well 
as filling in the quarterly assessment fonns for the Department 
was done. Filing of correspondence, compiling of address lists 
for specific functions, co-ordinating the plans of the History 
Dept staff and preparing for strategic planning workshops were 
some of the other duties done regularly. 

Routine duties of this department included documentation and 
indexing. The storerooms were inspected regularly and general 
housekeeping principals put into practice. 

The Historian attended many functions, talks and exhibition 
openings during the year viz. The PAST production "Walking 
Tall", Lady Oppenheimer Hall, on 9 May; The opening of the 
Langeberg Campaign, a travelling exlnbition; The opening of 
medical exln"bition for Sister Hemietta commemoration on 6 
October; TheAGM of the Friends of the Museum on 10 October, 
where the Wilman Memorial lecture was given by Robert Hart 
and titled 'The Royal Visit to South Africa, 1947'; The opening 
of the Oliver Turnbo display on 30 November. 

AtJ a museum. librarian has yet to be appointed the two volunteers 
in the h"brary, Mesdames Maureen Klemp and Beverly Theron are 
doing sterling work. They are working through various backlogs 
in the library. They have sorted through the Elu.abeth Voigt 
collection and created a reading room where this collection will 
be stored. Mrs Klemp is shelf reading and listing the journals and 
magazines, while Mrs Theron is accessioning all new and old 
books which have not been previously classified and catalogued. 
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CONSERVATOR 
YVONNE KOK, Conservator- yvonne@museumsnc.co.za 

COLLECTION CURATION AND CONSERVATION 

The ongoing maintenance of the History collection consisted 
of cleaning, repairing and creating suitable enclosures for 
documents, books, photographs and various historical items. 
Extra large files were wrapped in acid free wrapping paper. The 
Haberfeld collection was donated to the museum and it has been 
accessioned and filed. Entries were made in the accessions' book 
and on the database. Twenty five military uniforms of esteemed 
soldiers and officers were vacuumed to keep them dust free. 

QUERIES AND EXHIBITIONS 

Assisted the Historian with queries received. Assistance was 
given with the Langeberg Exhibition which was opened on 3 
August 2017. 

OUTREACH, EDUCATION 

Practical exercises on how to repair paper, encapsulation and 
surface cleaning of paper were demonstrated by Ms. Y. Everson 
to Sol Plaatje University Students on 12 September 2017. 

Night at the Museum 

Officials from the Namakwa District received Basic Museum 
training on 20 and 21 November 2017 from staff of the McGregor 
Museum. 

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 

Y. Everson, K.P Genge, A. Henderson, J.M Ditlhobolo, A.W 
Mathebula, D.J McAnda, R.G Hart, and E.A.K Setsogela 
attended a Level 1 First Aid Course at St John's from 13-15 
March 2018. 

FUNCTIONS 

Besides doing our usual work, staff of the McGregor Museum 
had fun and the opportunity to live out their dreams being actors 
at the 'Night at the Museum' function on 21 September 2017. It 
was a roaring success and the Museum received compliments 
from the public. 

On a sad note: we bid farewell to our colleague Mr Jurie Blom 
(a groundsman) who passed away after a very short illness on 
31 March 2018. 

Level 1 First Aid Course at St John~ 
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CULTURAL HISTORY 
DOMINIQUE McANDA, Conservator: Cultural History, hist@museumsnc.co.za 

JENNY GIBBS, Chief Auxilliary Services Officer 

COLLECTION MAINTENANCE 

New Accessions: 255 
New objects located/brought in: 324 
Cloth: 3 
Glass: 99 
Ceramic:3 
Mixed Media: 1001 
Fumigated: 1 
Objects reshelved: 1001 
Stocktaking: 939 
Database: 739 
Desktop valuations: 163 

The routine tasks of daily administration and submissions of 
reports were completed. 
The cleaning of the storerooms, working areas and Rudd House 
was done to a high standard by Mrs Maile and then by EPWP 
workers after Mrs Maile retired. 
The sorting and repacking of objects in the storerooms done by 
Mrs Gibbs is impeccable and should be commended. 

OUTREACH, EDUCATION & DISPLAY 

Mrs Gibbs continues to assist with an outreach programme, 
which involves the Galeshewe Association for the Care of the 

From left: GAASCA Mandela Day meat donation 

MsLaraNel: 
student intern 
cleaning a 1892 
ballgown 

LENAH MAILE, Household Aid 

Aged and Disabled (GAASCA) by collecting materials as well 
as books for the group to use in their arts and crafts. Ms McAnda 
assists in lecturing students from the Sol Plaatje University on 
the role of a curator and basic handling and cleaning of museum 
objects and collections. 

Another boon for this department was to assist in props 
management for the Night at the Museum event, which as 
a result was the talk of Kimberley. The sorting through of Dr 
Williamson's Estate by Mrs Gibbs should be commended, she 
co-ordinated the sorting and movement of objects within the 
house and completely emptied and repacked the late doctor's 
work shed. She was able to source an assortment of cabinets and 
materials for museum use. 

Thank you Mrs Gibbs, your effort, willingness and high standard 
of work excellence is highly valued and appreciated. 

MUSEUM AND DISPLAY MAINTENANCE 

Regular housekeeping of the storerooms and Rudd House was 
done by Mrs Maile and the EPWP cleaners. 

The success of this department is all thanks to the McGregor 
Museum staff for their continued support. Thank you and stay 
blessed. 

Cultural History provided the props for Night at the Museum 

Ms Sandra Foriers, Belgian intern 
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PHOTOGRAPHS 
ROBERT HART, Industrial Technician - photos@museums.co.u 

INFORMATION SERVICE 

Visitors 
Eleven visitors to the collection were received amoogst them 
were Mark McGranaghan and Chris Wmgfield from Cambridge 
University who looked at images of the Moffat Mission at 
Kmuman, Fiona Barbour who enquired about pictures of Lilith 
Bond and Henk Brand who was doing research about Thomas 
Orr. 

Inquiries 
Sixty-one requests for images were received. These included: 
Paul Duncan- Duggan-Cronin studies, Brian Wtllan (UK.)- Bend 
Hotel at Pniel and old town hall in Kimberley, Mduduzi. Xakasa
Duggan-Cronin studies, Daniela Muller (Switzerland)- Ndebele 
beadwork, Vibeke Vi.est.ad (Norway)- Aunis dancing plumes, 
andAnne Laing- images of the different peoples of South Africa. 

COLLECTIONSANDSTOREROOM 

this exhibition, and medical histoiy exhibition to mark Sister 
Henrietta Stockdale commemoration day (6 October 2017). 

A highlight of the year was the 'Night at the Museum' held 
partly to celebrate the 120th birthday of the Sanatorium building. 
This event, which saw many members of the Museum staff in 
unfamiliar roles, was held on 21 September, and was highly 
successful. 

Robert, on occasion, acts as the Museum's in-house florist and 
did the arrangements for the following events: ball-room scene 
of 'Night at the Museum', and the opening of the exhibition to 
commemorate the centenary of the birth of Oliver Turnbo (30 
November). 

EDUCATIONAL AND OUTREACH WORK 

Visitors to the Duggan-Cronin Gallery were assisted as required. 
They numbered 918 and included tourists, and teachers and 
learners from several schools in the Northern Cape, and 

One hundred-and-ninety-three entries were made in the elsewhere. 
accessions' book and 190 entries on the database. 

Housetoun 
The ongoing tasks of filing away photographs and clea.nmg Rudd House: A total of 68 visitors were shown over this building. 
storage cabinets and shelves were completed on a regular basis. Dunluce: 48 visitors 

VOLUNTEERS AND INTERNS 

Christina Murray (volmrteer) continued working on the database 
of the Jean Morris collection, and Anton de Bruin (volunteer) 
iwcessioned Jean Morris images. Their help was much 
appreciated. Anton left for New Zealand in January 2018 and he 
will be missed. 

Sandra Foriers an intern from Belgium worked in the collection 

On 21 November personnel from Namaqua regional museums 
were given a presentation about historic photographs and the 
care thereof. 

HOUSEKEEPING 

The Gallery complex consisting of the display areas, offices and 
the visitors' fiat were, as always, kept clean and tidy, and looking 
good, due to the efforts of Jennifer Buffel. 

from 31 October to 17 November as part of her six-month r--~=--r-■-,- .- _- ~- :-=-=-=-=-:-~-~-~-~-~-m- :=~;,---~-F- ,;a-.-■-~-.-
1111
_ ■-■-.----. intern.ship at the Museum. She accessioned Zulu images taken 

by Jean Morris. During this time, accompanied by Robert, 
she visited the following places of interest: Africana Librazy, .,.__r=c_-
Honoured Dead Memorial, Rudd House, Dunluce and Chapel 
Street Museum. 

Sandra's enthusiasm and positivity about the histoiy and heritage 
of Kimberley and South Africa in general were appreciated, and 
she will be missed. 

PROOF-READING 

Much time was spent proof-reading various texbl including: 
McGregor Museum annual report 2016-17, texts for Sol 
Plaatje Museum, booklet to commemorate 65th anniversary 
of the Mayibuye uprising, Williston Nostalgic Walking Route 
text, Fraserbwg Nostalgic Walking Route text, and booklet to 
commemorate the 40th anniversary of Robert Sobukwe's death. 

EXHIBITIONSANDEVENTS 

During the period under review two exhibitions were staged 
at the Duggan-Cronin Gallery: 70th anniversary of the visit 
of British Royal Family to South Africa- Kimberley visited 
on 18 April 1947 (25 April 2017} Robert did the research for 

Display case conltlining photographs tuUl other memorabilia of the 
Royal Jisit to SoJllh Ajrka 1947, Aprll 2017 

Scene from 'Night 
,....-ll--- at the Muuum• 21 

______.---111-..__ Sqtember 2017: 
dinner Ill the Hotel 
Belgrave 1920s
Thnothy McAnda, 
7racey Mwmnan, 
Robert Hart and 
Sandra Foriers 
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RESEARCH 

Conducted research on the 1896-97 Phokwane and Langeberg 
War of resistance, the 1952 Mayibuye Massacre in Number 1\vo 
Location as well as the life of Oliver Reginald Tambo. I also 
continue to work with Mr Don Majosi and Mr Vusi Tukakhomo 
in researching the history of African businesses in Galeshewe 
and Old Greenpoint during the apartheid era. V1Sited Dr Arthur 
and Mary Letele's grave in Maseru, Lesotho. 

PUBLICITY 

Conducted two radio interviews with ICURARA FM on the 
Langeberg War of Resistance and one with SABC-TV on the life 
of Vusamazulu Credo Mutwa and the 65th Anniversazy of the 
1952 Mayibuye Massacre. 

OUTREACH AND EDUCATION 

Continued collaborating with the Galeshewe Memorial Project 
with the aim of rewriting and initiating an awareness of our 
history among our communities. The Department Sport Arts 
and Culture in collaboration with GMP commemorated the 1952 
Mayibuye Uprising in Galeshewe. Gave a 1alk on the Mayibuye 
Uprisings of 1952 to youth from across the Northern Cape 
hosted by the Department of Social Development for the Youth 
Month Programme under the theme 'Youth Development Centre 
of building Cohesive Society through access Education'. 

Presented a lecture on K.gosi Galeshewe, Kgosi Jantjie and K.gosi 
Toto for the Applied Centre for Climate and Earth Sciences 
Habitable Planet workshop held at the Sol Plaatjie University. 

Formed part of the Youth Month Celebration Committee that 
worked on the restoration and unveiling of Barney Judith 
Moacwi and Mayenzeke Chari Ntlhati memorial as well as the 
nmaming of the Mimosa building to Lahli Mabilo Complex. 

Gave two lectures to the Sol Plaatje University Heritage Students 
on monuments around the CBD and the Mayibuye Uprising. 

Curated the 120th Commemoration of the Langeberg War of 
1897, and co-curated the O.R. Tambo Champion of Freedom 
and exhibitions. 

Assisted Kimberley Girls' High learners Keabetswe Mochwaro, 
and Boikhutso Lam.ala with their oral history and monuments 
projects respectively. 

I continue to serve as an Executive Member of the Luka Jantjie 
Foundation. 
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LIVING HISTORY 
SEPHAI MNGQOLO, Oral Historian, sephai@muscumsnc.co.za 

Yo,r,ths from 
across the 
Northern 

Cape tit the 
M,zyibuye 
Upruing 
Precinct 

Successfully organised and participated in the Racism Dialogue 
that was held at Omnia. The main aim of the workshop was to 
get first hand input/information from the community of Orania 
about what they think of the issues around racism in the country. 
It is with great sadness that I record the deaths of ANC Veterans 
Mr Aaron Mooketsi, and Mr Obakeng Benjamin ltumeleng. 

Racism Dialogue Worshop held in Oran/a 

Organising for the RM:ism Dialog,u Workshop in 
Orania 



ZOOLOGY 
BERYL WlLSON, Zoologist, beiyla@museumsnc.co.za 
COLLECTIONS MANAGER, Heidi Folscher (appointed from 1 October 2017) 
JACK OLIPHANT, Preparator 
ESAU RICHARDS, YU-DEAN VAARLAND (June 2016), EVELIN SCHALKWYK, Margersfontein Team 
MARTINA KUSTERS, Black-footed Cat (BFC) Field Technician 

DEPARTMENTAL STAFF 

After nearly 10 years, the department was fortunate to acquire 
Heidi Folscher following an 18-month NRF National Natural 
History Conditional Grant contract. Heidi's contnbution to data 
capturing and general zoology collection duties has lifted a 
huge work load off the shoulders of the zoologist. Fieldwork on 
the Black-footed Cat project continued with a field technician, 
Martina Kiisters, alternating between the Kimberley and De AM 
study areas. Without all their efforts, the majority of collection
based activities and associated field work respectively would not 
have been possible. 

Magersfontein Battlefield Museum, the associated restaurant 
and guest hOU8e continue to be one of the Museum's gems and 
are well attended to by the capable terrain and support st.a.ff. We 
welcomed Yu-Dean Vaarland to the team in June 2016. 

DEPARTMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

Following the resignation and retirement of colleagues in 
other provincial departments, it is a challenge that the zoology 
of nearly a third of South Africa which includes many rare 
and special endemics, now rests on the shoulders of a single 
provincial professional at the McGregor Museum. Despite this, 
by focussing on specific projects, it was possible to still conclude • 
a very productive year :in terms of ongoing and completed 
projects, fund-raising and outreach. 

A number of poster and oral presentations (listed elsewhere) 
were made on current and concluded projects. Ongoing research 
this period focussed mainly on three research projects: 

• Black-foot.ed Cat Project: This project is part of a 
multidisciplinary effort with international n:searchers to 
study the distribution, ecology, health, and reproduction of 
this rare species over an extended period. The aims of the 
BFCWG are to conserve this rare cat species by furthering 
awareness and conducting multidisciplinary research 
on the species' biology. The BFCWG owns a research 
vehicle (Toyota Hilux) for which the insurance, running 
and maintenance costs are administered by the McGregor 
Museum. Kimberley. The specialized equipment required 
for our research is also stored at the McGregor Museum. 
A$ the project has grown in scope and capacity, the burden 
of monitoring the nocturnal collared cats became too much 
and the help of a part-time field assistant became necessary. 
Monitoring is now taking place by Martina Kiisters, a TIJT 
MTech student, from Namibia. The BFCWG conducted its 
annual field work in October 2016. During the course of the 
year a number of generous grants were awarded to the group 
by ISEC, Ca.ruuta and San Diego Zoo. 

At the end of2016, a BBC Wildlife crew filmed the finrt ever 

scenes of interactions between mothers and kittens at our 
De AM study area. The trailer for the two-part documentary 
featured some of this footage and went on to be the most 
viewed online clip ever with over 47 million views (https:// 
www.you.tube.com/watch?v=RdYjM-ZMrsc&sns=fb ). This 
has catapulted the species and the project into the limelight 
in ways we never imagined. 

The 2017 Black-footed Cid te,an on site in De AGJ" 

White-backed Vulture Project: This species is the most 
widespread and common vulture in Africa but was up-list.ed 
in2015 t.o Critically Endangered. The species is undergoing 
a rapid decline in population numbers and faces threats 
similar to all the other African vultmes. We have been 
monitoring the breeding and survival success of birds on 
Dronfield since 1992 and on Mokala National Park from 
2010 with Ronelle VJ.Sage from the Endangered Wtldlife 
Trust and the crew from the UK Hawk Conservancy Trust. 
This year we celebrated 25 years of successive ringing on 
Dronfield. 

Because of the increasing mgency in developing 
conservation strategies for the species it was decided to 
approach TIJT regarding a PhD :investigating various 
monitoring technologies that will assist biologists in the 
field. This project has been made possible by the generous 
funding and support from San Diego Zoo. A drone has been 
purchased with some of the funds and has already seen its 
first test flights carried out on aerial surveying of vulture 
nests. Other funding will be used to purchase camera traps, 
complete a Remote Pilot Licence, attend conferences and 
conduct field work. 

In September, the Kimberley Harriers held the third popular 
and successful annual off-road race with all the proceeds 
being given to vulture conservation. Presentations were 

given at this event and several others during the year. In 
October 2017 I was appointed to the Board of Directors of 

97 



• 

kal• 

VulPro, southern Africa's largest NGO involved in vulture 
conservation. 

Mokala Vulture ringing tsam 2017 

Secretarybird Project: The species is undergoing a rapid 
decline in population numbers and faces threats and is now 
listed as Endangered. 

One of the two GSM cellular devices sporuored and fitted 
by the Endangered Wildlife Trust in January 2015, has 
continued to work well. After spending about 8 months in the 
Vredefort area after fledging, Squeak then moved eastwards 
and has since remained predominantly in the immediate 
district around Petrusburg, Free State where he has been 
physically observed on several occasions. He has made a 
few short forays away to pans in the south but always returns 
after a few weeks. Should his transmitter keep working, he 
will soon be the longest tracked Secretarybird, and the :first 
to make it to adulthood and breeding age! 

Kimberley 

0 

Afew of the Tanfcwa Goats on Magersfonuin 

As official measurers for Rowland Ward and Safari Club 
International, USA, I am often requested to measure award
qualifying trophies. For the more fun-at-heart. a geocache 
was placed in the museum gardens in 2009, and this cache has 
proved very popular with visitors. For those interested, visit 
www.geocache.com and find this cache listed under the code 
GCIVPW2. I also continue to collect roadkill data for the 
EWT's Wtldlife & Transport Programme. 

I continue to provide specialist services to the Kimberley Airport 
(ACSA), and this past year saw a small Western Barn Owl project 
initiated after several pairs occupied 5 towers on the airfield. 
They then produced several clutches of off-spring that were 
ringed. The National Annual Armed Forces Event was hosted 
by Kimberley SANDF this year and keeping the skies safe for 
both aircraft and vultures become a priority for the organisers. 

In the absence of zoological specialists at the provincial 
departments, I am called upon to comment on policies, and act 
as a Specialist Consultant to the Green Scorpions ( enforcement 
unit of DENC) which results in some interesting experiences 
and specimen acquisitions, particularly in the herpetological 

Bloemfontein 

, department. I continue to consult regularly on poaching and 
M• smuggling cases. 

0 
11 Pa<k Perhaps the highlight of the year was the Black Spitting Cobra 

that became an office occupant in January 2018. This snake 
was caught in Kimberley but would have been a translocated 
individual from the western perts of the province or Namibia 
where it is a rare native. After garnering huge media publicity, 
the deparbnent has since been inundated with visitors coming to 
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Squeak, the Secntarybirf'7 movements for March 
2017-Febnuuy 2018 

0 

• Magersfontein Tankwa Goat Project: 13 goats donated by 
the Department of Agriculture were successfully relocated 
from Carnarvon to Magersfontein to establish the :first 
satellite herd in February 2016. Their numbers have slowly 
incn:ased and we now have a herd of24 animals. Visitors to 
the battlefield can often see these highly coloured animals 
lying high up in the koppies where they prefer to remain. 
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MAGERSFONTEIN MANAGEMENT 

It is a pleasure to report on the management and activities 
of Magersfontein Battlefield Museum terrain. Whilst the 
ecologica.1 management falls under this department. I also report 
on and assess the staff. Both aspects continue to flourish, with 
game numbers increasing and allowing for small annual culls of 
blesbok, and the staff amply supplying effort and expertise to the 
facilities and the veld alike. We are pleased to welcome Yu-Dean 
Vaarland as a permanently appointed staff member whilst Evalin 
Schalkwyk is currently finalising her probation period. 

In December, the IGmberley Harriers PG Glass Magersfontein 
held a road race that started and :finished on the battlefield. This 
is becoming an increasing popular site and the upcoming year 
already has additional cycle and horse events booked. 
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PUBLICATIONS 
SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS 

MURN C, BOTHA, A. & WD.,SON, B, 2017 The changing sizes of Critically Endangered White-backed Vulture breeding colonies 
around Kimberley, South Africa 

DISSERTATION & THESIS 

UNPUBLISHED SCIENTIFIC REPORTS 

WILSON, B. 2017. Habitat feasibility study for South African giraffe, nyala and waterbuck. for Witpan Game Farm, Kimberley 
District, Northern Cape. A habitat feasibility report. 

WILSON, B. 2017. Fauna specialist study for the proposed Mystic Peal 157 {Pty) Ltd diamond mine project on Portion 1 of Farm 
Vooruitzigt 81 & concurrent development of Otto's Kopje Diamond Mine, Kimberley District, Northern Cape. An Environmental 
Impact Assessment Report. 

SLIWA A, WILSON, B. ICUSTERS M, EGGERS, B, LAWRENZ A & MARAIS S. 2017. Report on surveying, catching and 
monitoring black-footed cats (Fells nigripes) on Benfontein Nature Reserve, Nuwejaarsfontein and Taaiboschpoort Farms in 2017 
[ONLINE]. Available from: www.wild-<:atorg/nigripes/infos/Sliwa _ al2017-Report-Felis-nigripes-Work-SA2017.pdf 

POPULAR ARTICLES 

ALLEN V. 2017. Carnarvon Staproete/Carnarvon Walking Trail, researched, proofread, translated and artistic work by McGregor 
Museum staff. 2017. Kimberley, Dept of Economic Development and Tourism. 

HART, R. G. 2017. Royal visit to South Africa 1947- part one. Now and Then- Historical Society newsletter, vol. 25 no. 2 

MNGQOLO, S. 2017. 120th Commemoration of the Lange berg War-Ntwa Ya Maje AMokgotbu. McGregor Museum, Kimberley. 

MNGQOLO, S. 2017. 65th Commemoration of the 1952 Mayt"buye Massacre. McGregor Museum, Kimberley. 

WILSON, B. 2017. Field report from the Black-footed Cat Working Group - annual field work (De Aar phase). International 
Society for Endangered Cats, Canada. November 2017 Newsletter. 

CONFERENCES, WORKSHOPS & LECTURES PRESENTED &ATTENDED 

ALLEN, V. & HART, R. 2017. Architecture styles; Georgian, Victorian, Edwardian. This was presented by Prof. Matilda Burden 
from University of Stellenbosch, 21- 23 August. 

DITHOBOLO, J; EVERSON, Y; GENGE, P; HART,, R; HENDERSON, A; McAANDAt D; SETSHOGELAt K. 2018. First 
Aid Level 1 course: St John 13-15 March. 

GIBBS, J. & McAANDA, D.2017. Risk management and furniture care workshop facilitated by Tizzie Mangiagli : WHAG 14-16 
August 2017. 

HART, R. G. 2017. The Royal Visit to South Africa, 1947. Wilman Memorial lecture. AGM of Friends of the McGregor Museum, 
Kimberley 10 October. 

HART, R. G. 2018. Urban Edwardian architectural grouping in Kimberley- Trinity Methodist Church and the Alexander McGregor 
Memorial Museum. Trinity Methodist Church breakfast, Kimberley 20 January. 

McANDA, D. 2017. Practical training for Ms Lera Nel: object documentation 13-20 July 2017. 

McANDA, D. 2017. Training the SPU Students: Role of a curator lecture (total of34 students) 12 September 2017. 

MNGQOLO, S. 2017. Kgosi Galeshewe, Jantjie and Toto: Resistance Heroes against Colonialism. Ga-Motlhware Traditional 
Office. 20 September Kudumane. 

MNGQOLO, S. 2018. Life and Tim.es of Dr Arthur Letele in Galeshewe. IVUMAArts Centre, Galeshewe 9 March. 
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VAN HEERDEN, A. 2017. Invasive Ali.en Cacti of the Norther Cape. Friends of the McGregor Museum, September 2017. 

Wll,SON, B. 2017. Empty Skies: Vultures - a flight of hope. Friends of the McGregor Museum. 20 April 2017. 

Wll,SON, B. 2017. Empty Skies: Vultures - a flight of hope. FS BirdLife South.Africa, Bloemfontein. 4 May 2017. 

Wll,SON, B. 2018. Empty Skies: Vultures - a flight of hope. Rotary Chili, Kimberley. 9 February 2018. 

EDITORSHIPS 

HART, R. G. (ed). Now and Then - newsletter of the Histmical society of Kimberley and the Northern Cape, vol 25 (1 & 2). 

DONORSANDACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

Africana Library; Angus Murray; Beverly Theron; Dirk Coet7.ee; Elna Marais; Fiona Barbour; Gavin Murray; Hendrik van Eck; 
Herman Willemse; Hollandbach; J Gibbs; J Williamson; Johan Cronje; Johann van Schalkwyk; Ludi von Be.zing; M Klemp; 
Marthinus; Matilda Burden; Maureen Klemp; Peter Gibbs; Petunia Aron; Rene van Rensburg; Rina Wild; Sandra Foriers; Theo 
Botoulas; Veronica Bruce; William Humphreys Art Gallery. 
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In memoriam 

Mr Jurie Blom worked at the museum since 2012. He passed away suddenly on 31 March 2018 and will be sorely 
missed by colleagues, friends and family. 
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Night at the Museum 
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'Night at the Museum' function on 21 September 2017 

104 



NOTES 
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